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Report from the City Treasurer 

The purpose of the Treasurer’s Report is to comment on the key financial information contained 

in the 2018 audited consolidated financial statements, and to highlight financial results that 

occurred during the year.  This report, together with the accompanying financial statements, 

allows the reader to assess the City of Thunder Bay’s financial activities and available resources. 

Financial Management and Control 

The financial management and control of the City of Thunder Bay is largely governed through 

by-laws that prescribe budget, purchasing, accounting, investment, risk management and debt 

policies.  City Council has sole authority to allocate funds through the approval of operating and 

capital budgets. 

The Financial Guiding Principles support the principles of fiscal accountability & sustainability; 

infrastructure investment & renewal; and economic, environmental & social responsibility. The 

presentation of the City’s annual Long Term Financial Overview provides important information 

about the City’s economic and fiscal environment to assist during annual budget deliberations. 

In 2018, the City received its credit rating from S&P Global Ratings, which has provided credit 

rating services to the City of Thunder Bay since 1998: 

“On June 26, 2018, S&P Global Ratings (S&P) affirmed its long-term issuer credit and 

senior unsecured debt ratings on the City of Thunder Bay, at AA with a stable outlook. 

The rating reflected S&P’s view of Thunder Bay’s healthy budgetary performance, robust 

liquidity position, and decreasing debt burden. 

The stable outlook reflected S&P’s expectation that over the next two years Thunder Bay 

will maintain strong budgetary results, despite significant capital spending, while 

maintaining prudent financial management practices, a low debt burden and a healthy 

liquidity position”.  

The City’s Long Term Financial Overview, which includes projected capital expenditures and 

debt issuance, also contributed to the continued positive ratings. S&P Global Ratings will provide 

the City’s updated annual credit rating in June 2019. 

The City’s management maintains a system of internal controls designed to safeguard assets and 

ensure transactions are properly authorized and recorded in compliance with legislative and 

regulatory requirements. The integrity of financial management and control is ensured through an 

annual independent audit. City Council is assured of this integrity through an appointed Audit 

Committee, as well as mandated financial reporting to the Province through the annual Financial 

Information Return. 
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The City has embraced various corporate measurement and benchmarking programs as tools for 

continuous improvement and quality control.  The City of Thunder Bay is committed to 

continually monitoring its performance in key areas and to comparing Thunder Bay’s activities to 

other municipalities to identify improved and innovative methods of program and service 

delivery. 

The City also participates in various Provincial initiatives, including providing input on the 

development of financial policy, consultation on property taxation and assessment, and financial 

reporting. 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for the integrity and 

objectivity of the financial information contained in those statements. The financial statements 

contained in this report have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) 

of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. 

The City Treasurer is responsible for the overall financial management of the City and must make 

certain that all corporate accounting records and financial reports conform to Council budgetary 

requirements, by-laws, policies, procedures, accounting principles and financial reporting 

requirements.  

The Municipal Act requires the City to engage independent auditors to express an opinion as to 

whether the financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the City’s financial 

position and operating results.  Included in the financial statements is the Auditor’s Report signed 

by BDO Canada LLP, the City’s External Auditors, reflecting an unqualified or “clean” opinion. 

The statements have been reviewed by the City’s Audit Committee, whose responsibility is to: 

 ensure the external audit function has been effectively carried out and that any matter 

which the independent auditors have brought to the attention of the Audit Committee has 

been addressed; 

 review and discuss with management their responsibility for assessing the City’s internal 

control systems and monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and policy; 

 review the annual financial statements and consider whether they are complete, consistent 

with information known to committee members, and reflect appropriate accounting 

principles; 

 review significant accounting and reporting issues, including complex or unusual 

transactions, highly judgmental areas, recent professional/regulatory pronouncements, and 

understand their impact on the financial statements; and 

 recommend to City Council approval of the annual audited financial statements. 

The Audit Committee met with Administration and the External Auditors on June 11, 2019 and 

recommended approval of the audited financial statements. 

- 2 -



    

  
 

  

 

  

  

      

 

   

     

     

    

    

 

    

      

 

 

  

 

 

    

    

      

     

     

     

   

 

       

   

 

 

    

 

 

 

  

2018 Financial Statement Highlights 

2018 Consolidated Financial Position 

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position reports the City’s financial and non-financial 

assets, liabilities and accumulated surplus as at December 31, 2018. This statement is used to 

evaluate the City’s ability to finance its activities and to meet its liabilities and commitments. 

(000’s) 2018 2017 

A. Financial Assets 283,636 250,282 

B. Liabilities 397,780 392,250 

C. Net debt (A minus B) (114,144) (141,968) 

D. Non-financial assets 1,050,477 1,055,596 

E. Accumulated surplus (C plus D) 936,333 913,628 

The City’s financial position increased by $22.7 million in 2018 with an accumulated surplus 

totaling $936 million (2017 - $914 million).    

Net assets/(net debt) is an important indicator on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Position.  It is the difference between financial assets and liabilities and is an indicator of the 

amount of future revenues required to pay for past transactions and events.  Details of the change 

in net debt are provided in the Statement of Change in Net Debt: 

(000’s) 2018 2017 

Annual surplus 22,705 28,878 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (81,902) (84,926) 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 80,154 78,296 

Other 6,867 1,282 

Change in net debt 27,824 23,530 

The City’s net debt balance improved in 2018 decreasing by $27.8 million to $114 million 

resulting primarily from the annual surplus. 

A second important indicator on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is the 

accumulated surplus position.  The accumulated surplus increased from $914 million in 2017 to 

$936 million and is mainly comprised of equity in tangible capital assets, the investment in 

Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation, reserve and reserve fund balances, offset by municipal 

debenture debt and unfunded liabilities. 
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Details of the accumulated surplus are provided in Schedule 2 – Consolidated Schedule of 

Accumulated Surplus: 

(000’s) 2018 2017 

Investment in tangible capital assets 1,038,822 1,045,320 

Municipal debenture debt (205,906) (199,044) 

Tbaytel long term payable (20,148) (28,529) 

Reserves and reserve funds 129,910 116,387 

Investment in Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation 102,072 97,981 

Other surpluses (deficits) 3,077 (4,706) 

Derecognition of receivable (22,947) (22,947) 

Unfunded liabilities (88,547) (90,834) 

936,333 913,628 

Other surpluses (deficits) include: 

Tbaytel 16,646 6,929 

City of Thunder Bay (14,698) (12,589) 

Thunder Bay Public Library 391 197 

Community Economic Development Corporation 1,627 1,411 

Thunder Bay Community Auditorium (889) (654) 

3,077 (4,706) 

Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the assets.  The cost, 

less estimated residual value, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis 

over the assets’ estimated useful lives, ranging from 2 to 80 years. Assets under construction are 

not amortized until put into productive use. 

The City of Thunder Bay builds, maintains and/or manages a variety of assets required to deliver 

programs and services.  Following is a chart of the tangible capital assets included in the 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and on Schedule 1 to the financial statements. 

Net book Net book 

(000’s) Value 2018 Value 2017 

Land 28,748 28,865 

Land improvements 41,579 41,741 

Buildings 309,072 318,462 

Machinery & equipment 34,129 32,918 

Vehicles 40,256 37,407 

Network assets (Tbaytel) 176,657 181,524 

Library collection 1,304 1,481 

Linear assets 373,754 377,150 

Assets under construction 33,323 25,772 

Net book value of tangible capital assets 1,038,822 1,045,320 
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During 2018, the City spent $81.9 million on tangible capital assets, which included $40.5 million 

for Tbaytel capital projects, $0.3 million for Thunder Bay Public Library capital projects and 

$41.1 million for City of Thunder Bay Departmental capital projects. The $41.1 million includes 

$15.0 million for roads, bridges, sidewalks and streetlights, $5.1 million for Transit capital, $4.5 

million for water and wastewater, $3.5 million for fire/police radio renewal, $2.7 million for 

storm sewers, $1.6 million for festival stage and related equipment, $1.4 million for Waterfront 

development, $1.1 for soccer and baseball field upgrades, $0.9 million for police services capital, 

and $0.7 million for Superior North EMS capital. 

Municipal Debenture Debt Position 

Total outstanding municipal debenture debt at December 31, 2018 amounted to $205.9 million, 

representing an increase of $6.9 million over 2017. The increase was the net result of the 

issuance of $27.9 million in new debentures less the retirement of $21.0 million of outstanding 

debentures. Included in the new debentures for 2018 were the following: 

1. Construction advance for tax-supported capital projects in progress in the amount of $6.2 

million. 

2. Construction advance for waterworks capital projects in progress in the amount of $3.8 

million. 

3. Construction advance for wastewater capital projects in progress in the amount of $1.3 

million. 

4. Borrowing for wastewater capital projects in the amount of $1.2 million. 

5. Borrowing for solid waste capital projects in the amount of $0.4 million. 

6. Borrowing on behalf of Tbaytel in the amount of $15.0 million. 

Based on current projections the municipal debenture debt outstanding is expected to increase by 

$7.7 million in 2019, primarily relating to additional debenture borrowing related to Tbaytel 

capital projects. 

Principal and interest payments on municipal debenture debt in 2018 were $21.0 million (2017 -

$19.5 million) and $6.6 million (2017 - $6.4 million) respectively for a total of $27.6 million 

(2017 - $25.9 million). Total principal and interest payments in 2019 to 2028 are projected to be 

within the range of $24 million to $34 million under the approved Debt Management Strategy. 

The City’s municipal debenture debt practices are governed by provincial legislation, the City’s 

capital financing and debt policy and the Debt Management Strategy. The Ministry of Municipal 

Affairs and Housing sets an annual repayment limit for municipalities related to debt.  The 

maximum repayment of principal and interest is calculated at 25% of net own source revenues.  

The Debt Management Strategy established an overall limit such that principal and interest 

payments are not to exceed 10% of net own source revenues. The principal and interest payments 

for 2018 represented approximately 6% of net own source revenues (consistent with 2017), well 

within the respective limits set by the Ministry and the City. 

The municipal debenture debt outstanding (which related to the acquisition of municipal capital 

assets) represented 20% of the net book value of the City’s tangible capital assets as at December 

31, 2018, and 19% at December 31, 2017. 
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The following chart shows the components of the outstanding debt as at December 31, 2018, with 

comparatives for 2014 to 2017: 
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Reserves and Reserve Funds 

The establishment, maintenance and prudent management of reserves and reserve funds are 

important components of the City’s financial strategy.  Reserve funds support a significant 

portion of the cost of capital infrastructure and play an instrumental role in offsetting unforeseen 

cost increases during uncertain economic times. Maintaining reserve fund balances provides 

financial flexibility to manage future debt levels and protect the City’s financial position.  

In 2018, the City’s reserves and reserve funds increased by $13.5 million to $129.9 million, with 

the most significant items being: 

 Increase in Capital reserve funds of $9.5 million, primarily due to the following: 

o Waterworks reserve fund in accordance with the Water Authority Financial Plan 

and the 2018 favourable variance ($5.0 million); 

o Wastewater reserve fund in accordance with the Wastewater Financial Plan and 

the 2018 favourable variance ($1.8 million); 

o Increase in the Transit Capital reserve fund primarily related to a favourable 

variance resulting from fringe benefit and vacancy savings ($1.0 million); 

 Increase of $2.0 million in the Renew Thunder Bay reserve fund primarily related to the 

2018 tax supported favourable variance; 

 Increase to the Federal Gas Tax reserve fund ($1.2 million); 
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 New Ontario Municipal Commuter Cycling reserve fund in accordance with the new 

funding agreement ($0.9 million); 

 Increase in the Insurance reserve fund of $0.8 million related to a favourable variance in 

insurance claims. 

The following chart provides year-end balances by type of reserves and reserve funds as at 

December 31, 2018 with comparatives for 2014 to 2017: 
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2018 Consolidated Statement of Operations 

and Accumulated Surplus 

The Consolidated Statement of Operations summarizes the revenues and expenses for the year.  

The focus of this statement is Net Revenues which is the difference between revenues and 

operating expenses for the year. The City of Thunder Bay reported net revenues of $26.5 million 

in 2018, compared to net revenues of $28.3 million in 2017 and an annual surplus of $22.7 

million in 2018, compared to an annual surplus of $28.9 million in 2017. 

Revenues 

The City’s revenue sources include taxation and user charges, government grants, Tbaytel 

revenues, investment income, penalties and interest on taxes and other sources. 

In 2018, the City’s operating revenues of $571 million increased by $15 million over the 2017 

operating revenues of $556 million. The most significant components of this increase include: 

 Increase in taxation of $5.1 million 

 Increase in other revenue of $4.1 million 

 Increase in fees and service charges of $3.9 million 

 Net increase in Federal and Provincial grants of $0.9 million 

Expenses 

In 2018 the City’s operating expenditures totaled $544 million, representing an increase over 

2017 of $16 million. The most significant components of this increase include: 

 Increase in expenses related to legal, tax write offs, and emergency flood evacuation 

expenses of $2.9 million; 

 Increase in expenses relating to the provision of Police Services of $2.2 million and 

Superior North EMS paramedic services of $1.7 million; 

 Increase in Tbaytel expenses of $2.7 million; 

 Increase in non-tangible capital asset expenses of $2.0 million; 

 Increase in expenses related to contributions to Lakehead University towards the Centre for 

Advanced Studies in Engineering and Sciences and to Thunder Bay Regional Health 

Sciences Foundation towards the Cardiovascular Campaign of $2.0 million; 

Components of the total operating expenditures are: 

 Tbaytel  165 million (30.3%) 

 Protection to Persons and Property 89 million (16.4%) 

 Transportation Services 65 million (12.0%) 

 Environmental Services 61 million (11.2%) 

 Recreation and Cultural Services 54 million (9.9%) 

 Social and Family Services 41 million (7.5%) 

 Health Services 31 million (5.7%) 

 General Government 29 million (5.3%) 

 Planning and Development 9 million (1.7%) 
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Flood Disaster 

On May 28, 2012, the City of Thunder Bay experienced a severe rainfall event, which resulted in 

the flooding of the Atlantic Avenue Secondary Sewage Treatment Plant (the "Plant") and 

basement flooding in certain areas of the City.  On June 8, 2012, the Province of Ontario declared 

the City of Thunder Bay a disaster area for the purposes of the Ontario Disaster Relief Assistance 

Program ("ODRAP"). 

The City is currently in a dispute with its insurer, which has denied the claim based upon a 

disagreement over the proper allocation of repair costs for purposes of coverage under the 

insurance policy.  The City believes that the basis for the denial of the claim is invalid and has 

initiated legal action against its insurers and the claims adjusters.  As this amount is in dispute and 

the outcome of the action is indeterminable, in accordance with PSAB standards the City has 

derecognized the balance in dispute and records the amount of any recovery when received.  

Conclusion 

I would like to thank City Council, City Department and Outside Board teams for their support 

and cooperation during 2018. Personal thanks goes to the Corporate Services & Long Term Care 

team for their high degree of professionalism and dedication.  Together we are committed to 

providing high standards of fiscal excellence at the City of Thunder Bay and to providing 

accurate and timely information to City Council, Committees, departments and community 

stakeholders. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Linda Evans, CPA, CA 

General Manager – Corporate Services & Long Term Care & City Treasurer 
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Attachment 1 - Construction Financing Debentures 

The following disclosure with respect to Construction Financing Debentures is required 

annually in accordance with Ontario Regulation 278/02 of the Municipal Act, 2001 and the 

City of Thunder Bay’s Capital Financing Policy. 

1. The City of Thunder Bay obtained $45 million of Construction Financing Debentures in 

August 2003.  As of December 31, 2018, these debentures comprised 8.2% (2017 – 9.9%) 

of the total long-term debt of the City. 

2. In the opinion of the City Treasurer & General Manager-Corporate Services and Long 

Term Care, all construction financing debentures were made in accordance with the 

statement of policies and goals relating to construction financing adopted by the City. 

3. For the year ended December 31, 2018, interest payments of $1,109,570 and principal 

payments of $2,837,506 were required under the terms of the debentures. 

4. Following is a chart that provides a statement of the outstanding installments of principal 

and interest that will be due and payable in each year: 

Year Interest Principal Total 

2019 941,878 3,005,198 3,947,076 

2020 764,276 3,182,800 3,947,076 

2021 576,179 3,370,897 3,947,076 

2022 376,964 3,570,112 3,947,076 

2023 165,977 3,781,099 3,947,076 
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Statement of Administrative Responsibility 

The management of The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay have prepared the 
accompanying financial statements and are responsible for their accuracy and 
integrity.   The financial statements have been prepared by management in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted for the public sector as 
prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board [PSAB] of the Canadian Institute 
of Chartered Professional Accountants. 

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, the 
administration has developed and maintains a system of internal control designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that the Corporation’s assets are safeguarded from loss 
and that the accounting records are a reliable basis for the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

The City Manager and General Manager – Corporate Services & Long Term Care 
review the financial statements before such statements are submitted to Council and 
published for the residents of Thunder Bay.  The external auditors have access to, 
and meet with Administration and Council to discuss their audit and the results of 
their examination. 

The 2018 Financial Statements have been reported on by The Corporation of the 
City of Thunder Bay’s external auditors, BDO Canada LLP, the auditors appointed 
by Council.  The auditors’ report outlines the scope of their audit and their opinion 
on the presentation of the information included in the financial statements. 

_____________________________ _____________________________ 
Linda Evans, CPA, CA Norm Gale, CD, MBA, CMMIII 
General Manager - Corporate Services & City Manager 
Long Term Care & City Treasurer 

June 24, 2019 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Members of Council of The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay 

Opinion 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

• The information, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon, included in the 2018 Treasurer's Report. 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises: 

Other Information 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Basis for Opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018, and its 
consolidated results of operations, its consolidated change in net debt, and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

We

the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
accumulated surplus, changes in net debt, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
position as at December 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of operations and 
Bay and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained the 2018 Treasurer's Report prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on 
the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s 
report. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Independent Auditor's Report (cont'd) 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 

fraud or error. 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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Independent Auditor's Report (cont'd) 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Thunder Bay, Ontario 
TBD 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

2018 2017 
(Restated) 

As at December 31, (Note 3) 

$ $ 

Financial assets 

Cash 29,320,774 17,612,793 

Investments (note 6) 84,916,181 66,722,257 

Taxes receivable 10,526,735 11,952,377 

Accounts receivable 36,129,983 37,268,859 

User charges receivable 12,511,821 12,585,158 

Other assets 5,999,390 4,139,926 

Long term receivable 2,159,132 2,017,687 

Investment in bonds and own debentures - 2,034 

Investment in Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation (note 7) 102,072,420 97,980,630 

283,636,436 250,281,721 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

T
70,820,320 62,026,979 

Tbaytel long term payable (note 9) 20,148,000 28,529,000 

A
F

Deferred revenue (note 10) 12,359,530 11,814,832 

Employee future benefits (notes 11, 12) 84,869,598 86,870,586 

Municipal debenture debt (note 13) 205,905,686 199,044,341 

Landfill closure and post-closure liability (note 14) 3,677,765 3,963,961 

397,780,899 392,249,699

RNet debt (114,144,463) (141,967,978) 

Non-financial assets 

Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1), (note 16) 1,038,822,152 1,045,320,402 

Supplies inventory 6,804,491 6,257,496 

Prepaid expenses 4,850,785 4,017,701 

1,050,477,428 1,055,595,599 

Accumulated Surplus 936,332,965 913,627,621 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

Budget 
2018 

2018 2017 
(Restated) 

For the year ended December 31, (Note 23) (Note 3) 

$ $ $ 

Revenues 

Taxation, net (note 4) 191,501,700 191,589,480 186,480,779 

Fees and service charges 91,478,400 93,744,352 89,858,456 

Government of Canada grants (note 17) 11,398,204 12,670,598 14,119,477 

Province of Ontario grants (note 17) 57,753,830 60,709,881 58,405,061 

Contributed tangible capital assets 13,048 13,048 -

Investment income 1,335,100 2,948,636 2,782,707 

Other 18,923,733 19,506,185 15,435,316 

Tbaytel fees and service charges 186,107,000 189,403,000 189,204,000 

558,511,015 570,585,180 556,285,796 

Expenses (note 22) 

General government 27,657,030 29,291,490 25,264,940 

Protection to persons and property 88,879,179 89,026,956 86,036,850 

Transportation services 66,774,622 65,073,452 64,002,509 

Environmental services 64,329,872 61,668,128 62,484,339
THealth services 30,485,075 30,588,938 28,861,385

FSocial and family services 40,783,475 40,646,738 40,561,106 

Recreation and cultural services 53,424,957 54,131,246 49,450,354

APlanning and development 8,220,375 8,673,293 9,138,200

R

Tbaytel 162,733,000 164,954,000 162,214,877 

543,287,585 544,054,241 528,014,560

DNet revenues before the following 15,223,430 26,530,939 28,271,236 

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (356,000) (7,281,644) (1,890,758) 

Write-down of tangible capital assets (note 16) - (635,741) -

Recovery of receivable (note 24) - - 1,059,776 

Earnings from Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation (note 7) - 4,091,790 1,437,523 

Annual surplus 14,867,430 22,705,344 28,877,777 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year, as previously 
reported 913,627,621 913,627,621 886,454,844 

Prior period adjustment (note 3) - - (1,705,000) 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 913,627,621 913,627,621 884,749,844 

Accumulated surplus, end of year (Schedule 2) 928,495,051 936,332,965 913,627,621 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT 

Budget 2018 2017 
2018 (Restated) 

As at December 31, (Note 23) (Note 3) 

$ $ $ 

Annual surplus 14,867,430 22,705,344 28,877,777 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (88,535,547) (81,902,010) (84,926,144) 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 80,351,274 80,153,661 78,295,678 

Contributed tangible capital assets (13,048) (13,048) -

Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 342,262 924,579 

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 356,000 7,281,644 1,890,758 

Write-down of tangible capital assets - 635,741 -

(7,841,321) 6,498,250 (3,815,129) 
R

A
Net increase in prepaid expenses - (833,084) (234,188) 

Net increase in inventories 
F

- (546,995) (1,298,110)

T - (1,380,079) (1,532,298) 

Change in net debt 7,026,109 27,823,515 23,530,350 

Net debt, beginning of year (141,967,978) (141,967,978) (165,498,328) 

Net debt, end of year (134,941,869) (114,144,463) (141,967,978) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

2018 2017 
(Restated) 

For the Year Ended December 31, (Note 3) 

$ $ 

Operating Activities 

Annual surplus 22,705,344 28,877,777 

Non-cash charges to operations: 
Earnings from Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation (note 7) (4,091,790) (1,437,523) 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 80,153,661 78,295,678 

Contributed tangible capital assets (13,048) -

Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 7,281,644 1,890,758 

Contaminated sites liability - (91,584) 

Write-down of tangible capital assets 635,741 -

Landfill closure and post closure liability (286,196) 107,365 

Employment future benefits (2,000,988) (1,833,281) 

Change in non-cash working capital balances 
Taxes receivable 1,425,642 773,833 

Accounts receivable 

User charges receivable 

1,138,876 (11,629,839) 

73,337 (60,089) 

Other assets (1,859,464) 309,522 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Deferred revenue 

8,793,341 (6,519,145) 

R

Prepaid expenses (833,084) (234,188) 

Cash provided by operating activities 113,120,719 87,611,202 

Capital Activities 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (81,902,010) (84,926,144)DProceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 342,262 924,579 

Cash used in capital activities (81,559,748) (84,001,565) 

544,698 460,028 

Supplies inventory (546,995) (1,298,110) 

Financing Activities 

Decrease in Tbaytel long term payable (8,381,000) (8,270,000) 

Proceeds from municipal debenture debt 27,873,093 25,836,609 

Repayment of municipal debenture debt (21,011,748) (19,514,227) 

Cash used for financing activities (1,519,655) (1,947,618) 

Investing Activities 

Reduction of investment in own debentures 2,034 1,928 

Net decrease (increase) in investments (18,193,924) 3,483,461 

Reduction of investment in Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation (note 7) - 1,441,125 

Increase in long term receivable (141,445) (14,074) 

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities (18,333,335) 4,912,440 

Increase in cash 11,707,981 6,574,459 

Cash, beginning of year 17,612,793 11,038,334 

Cash, end of year 29,320,774 17,612,793 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

GENERAL 

The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay (the “City”) is a municipality in the Province of Ontario, Canada.  It 
conducts its operations guided by the provisions of provincial statutes such as the Municipal Act and related 
legislation. 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The consolidated financial statements of the City are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles for local governments as established by the Public Sector Accounting 
Board [PSAB] of the Chartered Professional Accountants Canada [CPAC].  Significant accounting policies adopted 
by the City are as follows: 

Reporting Entity 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and accumulated surplus of 
the reporting entity.  The reporting entity is comprised of all organizations, committees and local boards accountable 

City. These financial statements include: 

Thunder Bay Public Library Board 
Parking Authority 
Victoria Avenue Business Improvement Area 

for the administration of their financial affairs and resources to the City and which are owned or controlled by the 

Waterfront District Business Improvement Area 
Victoriaville Centre Board of Management 
Thunder Bay Community Auditorium Inc. 
Tbaytel (A Municipal Service Board established by the Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay) 
Thunder Bay Community Economic Development Commission Inc. 

Interdepartmental and inter-organizational transactions and balances between these organizations are eliminated. 

Thunder Bay Police Services Board 

The financial activities of certain entities associated with the City are not consolidated.  The City’s contributions to 
these entities are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus.  The entities that 
are not consolidated are as follows: 

Lakehead Region Conservation Authority 
Thunder Bay District Health Unit 
The District of Thunder Bay Social Services Administration Board 

Government Business Enterprise 

Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation is accounted for on a modified equity basis, consistent with the generally accepted 
accounting treatment for government business enterprises [note 7].  Under the modified equity basis, the business 
enterprise’s accounting principles are not adjusted to conform to those of the City’s, and inter-organizational 
transactions and balances are not eliminated. 

Accounting for School Board Transactions 

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the operations of the school boards, are 
not reflected in these consolidated financial statements [note 4]. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Trust Funds 

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the City are not included in the consolidated financial 
statements but are reported separately in the Trust Fund Financial Statements [note 5]. 

Basis of Accounting 

The City follows the accrual basis of accounting.  Under the accrual method of accounting, revenues are recognized 
in the period in which the transactions or events that give rise to the revenues occurred.  Expenses are recognized in 
the period in which the goods or services are acquired, whether or not payment has been made or invoices received. 

Employment Benefits 

The City has adopted the following policies with respect to employment benefit plans: 

The costs of vacation entitlements are charged as expenses when earned; 

The costs of post-employment benefits, sick leave entitlements and  WSIB entitlements are recognized when the 
event that obligates the City occurs; costs include projected future income payments, health care continuation costs 
and fees paid to independent administrators of these plans, calculated on a present value basis; 

The costs of post-employment benefits, sick leave entitlements and WSIB entitlements are actuarially determined 
using the projected benefits method prorated on service and management’s best estimate of retirement ages of 
employees, salary escalation, expected health care costs and plan investment performance; 

Accrued obligations and related costs of funded benefits are net of plan assets; 

The City amortizes the amount of any actuarial gains or losses over the expected average remaining service lifetime 
of the active members of the group and prior service costs are recognized in the period of the plan changes. 

The contributions to a defined benefit pension plan are expensed when contributions are due. 

Government Transfers 

Government transfers which include legislative grants, are recognized in the financial statements in the period in 
which events giving rise to the transfers occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have 
been met, and reasonable estimates of the amount can be made. 

Investments 

The City accounts for its investments at cost plus accrued earnings.  The carrying value of an investment is written 
down to its net recoverable amount if a decline in value is judged to be other than temporary. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Investment Income 

Investment income earned on surplus funds is reported as revenue in the period earned.  Investment income earned 
on obligatory reserve funds is added to the fund balance and forms part of the deferred revenue or reserve fund 
balances. 

Non-financial Assets 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of 
services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the ordinary 
course of operations. 

[i] Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, 
construction, development or betterment of the asset. 

The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives as follows: 

General capital 
Land improvements 
Buildings 

5 to 50 years 
10 to 60 years 

2 to 30 yearsMachinery and equipment 
Vehicles 
Network assets 
Library collection 

Infrastructure 

3 to 20 years 
6 to 45 years 

10 years 

Land improvements 5 to 50 years 
Buildings 30 to 60 years 
Linear assets 10 to 80 years 
Machinery and equipment 2 to 30 years 

One-half of the annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal.  Assets under 
construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate they no longer contribute to the City’s ability to 
provide services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less 
than their book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the statement of operations. 

[ii] Contributions of Tangible Capital Assets 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt and are also 
recorded as revenue. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Non-financial Assets (continued) 

[iii] Leases 

Leases are classified as capital or operating leases.  Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks 
incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as capital leases.  All other leases are accounted for as 
operating leases and the related lease payments are charged to expenses as incurred. 

[iv] Inventories 

Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost or replacement cost. 

Taxation Revenue 

Taxes are recorded at estimated amounts when they meet the definition of an asset, have been authorized and the 
taxable event occurs. For property taxes, the taxable event is the period for which the tax is levied.  Taxes receivable 
are recognized net of an allowance for anticipated uncollectable amounts. 

Annually, the City bills and collects property tax revenues for municpal purposes as well as provincial education 
taxes on behalf of the Province of Ontario (the "Province") for education purposes. The authority to levy and collect 
property taxes is established under the Municpal Act, the Assessment Act, the Education Act, and other legislation. 

The amount of the total annual property tax levy is determined each year through Council's approval of the annual 
operating budget.  Municipal tax rates are set annually by Council for each class or type of property, in accordance 
with legislation and Council-approved polices, in order to raise the revenues required to meet operating budget 

 Education tax rates are established by the Province each year to fund the cost of education on a 

Property assessments, on which property taxes are based, are established by the Municpal Property Assessment 

requirements. 
Province-wide basis. 

Corporation ("MPAC"), a not-for-profit corporation funded by all of Ontario's municipalities.  The current value 
assessment ("CVA") of a property represents an estimated market value of a property as of a fixed date.  Assessed 
values for all properties within the municipality are provided to the City in the returned assessment roll in December 
of each year. 

The amount of property tax levied on an individual property is the product of the CVA of the property (assessed by 
MPAC) and the tax rate for the class (approved by Council), together with any adjustments that reflect Council-
approved mitigation or other tax policy measures. 

Property taxes are billed by the City twice annually.  The interim billing, issued in January, is based on 50% of the 
total property's taxes in the previous year, and provides for the cash requirements of the City for the initial part of the 
year prior to Coucil's approval of the final operating budget and the approved property tax levy for the year.  Final 
bills are issued in June, following Council's approval of the capital and operating budget for the year, the total 
property tax levy, and the property tax rates needed to fund the City's operations. 

Taxation revenues are recorded at the time tax billings are issued.  Additional property tax revenue can be added 
throughout the year, related to new properties that become occupied, or that become subject to property tax, after the 
return of the annual asssessment roll used for billing purposes. The City may receive supplementary assessment rolls 
over the course of the year from MPAC, identifying new or omitted assessments.  Property taxes for these 
supplementary and/or omitted amounts are then billed according to the approved tax rate for the property class. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Taxation Revenue (continued) 

Taxation revenues in any year may also be reduced by reduction in assessment values resulting from assessment 
and/or property tax appeals.  Each year, an amount is identified within the annual operating budget to cover the 
estimated amount of revenue loss attributable to assessment appeals, tax appeals or other deficiencies in tax revenues 
(e.g. uncollectible amounts, write-offs, etc.). 

User Charges 

User charges relate to telecommunication, transit fees, utility charges (water, wastewater and solid waste), licensing 
fees, fees for use of various programs, and fees imposed based on specific activities. Revenue is recognized when the 
activity is performed or when the services are rendered. 

Other Revenue 

Other revenues are recognized in the year that the events giving rise to the revenues occur and the revenues are 
earned. Amounts received which relate to revenues that will be earned in a subsequent year, are deferred and 
reported as liabilities. 

Deferred Revenue 

Certain amounts are received pursuant to legislation, regulation or agreement and may only be used in the conduct of 
certain programs, in the completion of specific work or for the purchase of tangible capital assets. 
certain user charges and fees are collected for which the related services have yet to be performed.  These amounts 
are recorded as deferred revenue and are recognized as revenue in the year the related expenses are incurred or 

 In addition, 

services are performed. 

Landfill Closure and Post-Closure Liabilities 

The costs to close existing landfill sites and to maintain closed solid waste landfill sites are based on estimated future 
expenditures in perpetuity in current dollars, adjusted for estimated inflation. These costs are reported as a liability 
on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 

Contaminated Sites Liability 

A contaminated site is a site at which substances occur in concentrations that exceed the maximum acceptable 
amounts under an environmental standard. Sites that are currently in productive use are only considered a 
contaminated site if an unexpected event results in contamination. A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is 
recognized when the organization is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; it is expected that future economic 
benefits will be given up; and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. The liability includes all costs 
directly attributable to remediation operations, maintenance and monitoring. The liability is recorded net of any 
expected recoveries. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the period. Significant estimates include assumptions used in estimating provisions for 
uncollectible accounts, employee benefit liabilities, property tax assessment appeals, landfill closure and post-
closure liabilities, contaminated sites liability, amortization of tangible capital assets and other accrued liabilities. 
These estimates are based on management’s best information and judgment.  Actual amounts, which are accounted 
for as they become known, may differ significantly from these estimates. 

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Effective January 1, 2018, The City of Thunder Bay adopted the following new accounting standards: 

i. PS2200 Related Party Disclosures: PS2200 defines a related party and establishes disclosures required for related 
party transactions. Disclosure of information about related party transactions and the relationship underlying them is 
required when the transactions have occurred at a value different from that which would have been arrived at if the 
parties were unrelated, and the transactions have, or could have, a material financial effect on the financial 

ii. PS3420 Inter-entity Transactions: PS3420 establishes standards of how to account for and report transactions 
between public sector entities that comprise a government reporting entity from both a provider and a recipient 
perspective. Requirements of this standard are considered in conjunction with requirements of PS 2200. 

statements. 

iii. PS3210 Assets: PS3210 provides guidance for applying the definition of assets set out in PS 1000, Financial 
Statement Concepts, and establishes general disclosure standards for assets. Disclosure of information about the 
major categories of assets that are not recognized is required. When an asset is not recognized because a reasonable 
estimate of the amount involved cannot be made, a disclosure should be provided. 

iv. PS3320 Contingent Assets: PS3320 defines and establishes disclosure standards for contingent assets. Contingent 
assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving uncertainty. Disclosure of 
information about contingent assets is required when the occurrence of the confirming future event is likely. 

v. PS3380 Contractual Rights: PS3380 defines and establishes disclosure standards for contractual rights. 
Contractual rights are rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will result in both an 
asset and revenue in the future. Disclosure of information about contractual rights is required including description 
of their nature and extent, and the timing. 

These changes have been applied prospectively from the date of adoption. There was no impact on the financial 
statements upon adopting the new standards. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

3. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 

a) During the year, Tbaytel changed its accounting policy with respect to the Hardware Subsidy that had been 
recorded and carried on the financial statements in the month immediately following the month of occurrence. 
To more accurately reflect the timing of the subsidy, Tbaytel will now account for such transactions as an 
expense during the month that the transaction occurs. The change has been applied retroactively with 
restatement of prior period comparative amounts. 

The impact of the retroactive adjustment has been reported as follows: 

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 

Increase in expenses: 
Telephone 60,000 

Decrease in annual surplus, 2017 (60,000) 
Decrease in opening accumulated surplus, 2017 (1,705,000) 

Decrease in ending accumulated surplus, 2017 (1,765,000) 

4. OPERATIONS OF SCHOOL BOARDS 

Taxation, other revenues and requisitions for the school boards amounting to $31,577,503 [2017 - $31,096,492] are 
not reflected in these consolidated financial statements. 

5. TRUST FUNDS 

Trust funds administered by the City amounting to $13,616,874 [2017 - $14,423,134] have not been included in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position nor have their operations been included in the Consolidated Statement 
of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. 

Trust fund balances at December 31 are as follows: 
2018 2017 

$ $ 

Older Adults Centre 111,926 84,606 
Cemetery 1,116,553 1,100,967 
Cemetery Marker Maintenance 430,811 415,906 
Dawson Court Home for Aged 2,020 2,020 
Grandview Lodge Home for Aged 4,945 4,945 
Pioneer Ridge Home for Aged 23,443 16,042 
Lake Superior Regiment Memorial Hillcrest Park 32,266 31,587 
Employee Disability 11,642,431 12,516,172 
Civic Employees Pension Trust Committee 1,998 1,998 
Community Auditorium Repairs 787 770 
Art in Public Places 8,989 8,800 
Provincial Land Tax 240,705 239,321 

13,616,874 14,423,134 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

6. INVESTMENTS 

Investments are recorded at cost.  The total market value of the City’s investments at December 31, 2018 was 
approximately $85,879,835  [2017  - $68,796,926].  The City’s investments are comprised of federal, provincial, 
municipal and corporate bonds, the ONE Equity Fund, money market funds, high interest savings account and 
treasury bills. The bonds have varying maturities and interest rates. 

2018 2017 
$ $ 

Cost Market Value Cost Market Value 

Federal Government 13,383,001 13,041,214 15,744,978 15,213,367 
Provincial Government 23,205,436 22,473,662 17,778,362 17,588,303 
Municipal 353,616 342,411 333,765 325,942 
Corporate 11,804,726 11,623,693 11,524,859 11,434,432 
Equity 7,928,809 10,413,282 6,022,205 9,156,814 
Other 28,240,593 27,985,573 15,318,088 15,078,068 

84,916,181 85,879,835 66,722,257 68,796,926 

The weighted average yield on the cost of the investment portfolio during the year was 2.15%  (2017 2.43%). 
Maturity dates on investments in the portfolio range from June 2019 to December 2048. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

7. INVESTMENT IN THUNDER BAY HYDRO CORPORATION 

Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation 

The Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation is wholly owned by the City and provides regulated and unregulated electric 
utility services and complementary commercial services. The following table provides condensed supplementary 
financial information for the Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries; Thunder Bay 
Hydro Electricity Distribution Inc.; Thunder Bay Hydro Utility Services; and Thunder Bay Hydro Renewable Power 
Incorporated, prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles as per Part I of the 
Chartered Professional Accountants Canada Handbook. 

2018 2017 
$ $ 

Financial position 
Current assets 35,157,233 40,340,179 
Capital assets 128,716,506 122,229,830 
Long-term assets 5,592,219 5,840,274 
Other assets 181,163 145,852 

Total assets 169,647,121

T
168,556,135 

Current liabilities 19,211,668 25,722,528 
Long-term liabilities 48,230,212 43,125,682 
Other liabilities 132,821 1,727,295 

Total liabilities 

R
A

F 67,574,701 70,575,505 

Net assets 102,072,420 97,980,630 

Results of operations 
Revenues 131,029,583 135,168,958 
Operating expenses (126,937,793) (133,731,435) 

Earnings for the year 4,091,790 1,437,523 

The City’s investment in Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation is comprised of the following: 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 

1,061common shares (2017 - 1,000) 
7,000,000 class A common shares 
Promissory note 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 
Accumulated earnings from date of transfer 

41,931,625 
-

26,490,500 
352,534 

33,297,761 

102,072,420 

34,931,625 
7,000,000 

26,490,500 
301,890 

29,256,615 

97,980,630 

During the year the City transferred 7,000,000 Class A common shares held in Thunder Bay Hydro Electricity 
Distribution Inc. to Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation. The Company issued 61 common shares to the City as 
compensation. 

The promissory note is receivable from Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation and is non-interest bearing, unsecured and 
due on demand. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

7. INVESTMENT IN THUNDER BAY HYDRO CORPORATION (continued) 

Related Party Transaction 

Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation provides certain services to the City in the normal course of business at commercial 
rates. 

Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation billed the City for electricity in the amount of $7,803,656 [2017-$9,425,896].  At 
December 31, 2018, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $785,113 [2017 - $899,915] payable to 
Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation related to this expense.  Also recorded was pole rental from Thunder Bay Hydro 
Corporation in the amount of $358,203 [2017 - $358,803].   The City also contributed towards capital construction 
by Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation during the year in the amount of $343,598 [2017 - $56,657]. The City received 
dividends of $75,000 in 2018 [2017 - $90,000]. 

The City provides certain services to Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation in the normal course of business at 
commercial rates. 

The following revenues were recorded: 

Rent of $342,609 [2017-$337,546] 
Telecommunication costs of $199,487 [2017-$213,515] 
Property taxes of $183,351 [2017-$184,756] 
IESO incentives of $15,145 [2017-$156,473] 

Subsequent Event 

On January 1, 2019, Thunder Bay Hydro Electricity Distribution Inc. and Kenora Hydro Electric Corporation Ltd. 
amalgamated and will continue as a corporation amalgamated under the laws of Ontario under the name SYNERGY 
NORTH CORPORATION. The new corporation will be owned by The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay and 
The Corporation of the City of Kenora.  The ownership allocation percentages have yet to be fully determined and 
will be based on each entities December 31, 2018 audited financial statements. 

8. BANK INDEBTEDNESS 

The City has an unsecured demand revolving credit facility in the amount of $15,000,000 [2017 - $15,000,000], of 
which $nil [2017 - $nil] was used at year-end, bearing interest at the bank’s prime rate less 0.88%. 

Tbaytel’s available revolving credit facilities amount to: 

1) $1,500,000 US [2017-$1,500,000 US] at a floating rate of US bank prime or 5.50%, of which $nil US [2017 -
$nil US] was used at year-end. 

2) $5,500,000 CDN [2017-$5,500,000] at a floating rate of bank prime less 0.50%, or 3.45%, of which $nil CDN 
[2017 –$nil] was used at year-end. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

9. TBAYTEL LONG TERM PAYABLE 

In 2010, Tbaytel entered into a Strategic Business Relationship.  As part of the agreement, Tbaytel entered into a 
long term payable arrangement with a term of ten years for a total principal amount of $46,903,000. The amount 
relates to a commercial acquisition of subscribers and subsequent payments are to be funded through the future 
operating results of Tbaytel.  The balance outstanding as at December 31, 2018 is $9,419,000 [2017 - $14,397,000]. 
Interest is accrued with an effective rate of 4.00%. 

Principal repayments of the long term payable are due as follows: 
$ 

2019 5,011,000 
2020 4,408,000 

Total 9,419,000 

Total payments for the year for the long term payable are as follows: 
2018 2017 

$ $ 

Principal payments 4,978,000 4,949,000 
Interest payments 485,000 683,000

TTotal 5,463,000 5,632,000 

amended to provide Tbaytel with Core Access In 2015, the Strategic Business Relationship Agreement was 
 The CAL has a term of seven years, expiring December 31, 2021. 

minimum lease payments are $3,714,000 annually including interest. 
Licensing (CAL).  Interest is 2.47% and 

 The cost of the Core Access License under 

Principal repayments of the long term payable are due as follows: 

capital lease is $23,852,000. 

Principal Interest Total 
$ $ $ 

2019 3,488,000 226,000 3,714,000 
2020 3,576,000 138,000 3,714,000 
2021 3,665,000 49,000 3,714,000 

Total 10,729,000 413,000 11,142,000 

Total payments for the year for the long term payable are as follows: 
2018 2017 

$ $ 

Prinicpal payments 3,403,000 3,320,000 
Interest payments 311,000 394,000 

Total 3,714,000 3,714,000 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

10. DEFERRED REVENUE 

The continuity of deferred revenue is as follows: 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 

Balance, beginning of year 
Net contributions from developers and property owners 
Investment income 
Net contributions to capital operations 
Net contributions from current operations 

Balance, end of year 

11,814,832 
98,609 

7,566 
(60,881) 
499,404 

12,359,530 

11,354,804 
159,186 

6,820 
(75,050) 
369,072 

11,814,832 

11. PENSION AGREEMENTS 

The City makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System Fund (OMERS), which is a 
multi-employer plan, on behalf of its staff. The plan is a defined benefit plan which specifies the amount of the 

contributions are matched by the City. 
retirement benefit to be received by the employees based on the length of service and rates of pay. Employee 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the City contributed approximately $17,174,833  [2017
for current service, which is included as an expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated 

- $17,244,573] 

Surplus. 

Because OMERS is a multi-employer plan, the City does not recognize any share of pension plan deficit of $4.2 
billion [2017-$5.4 billion] based on fair market value of the plan’s assets, as this is a joint responsibility of all 
Ontario municipalities and their employees. 

EMPLOYMENT FUTURE BENEFITS 

The City provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods. 

12. 

2018 
$ 

2017 
$ 

Sick leave benefits 
Vacation pay 
Post-employment benefits 
WSIB 

5,555,364 
4,523,822 

38,884,012 
35,906,400 

84,869,598 

5,535,997 
4,551,533 

39,275,556 
37,507,500 

86,870,586 

[a] Under the sick leave benefit plan, unused sick leave can accumulate and certain employees may become entitled 
to a cash payment when they retire or leave the City’s employment.  The City recognizes these costs in the 
period in which the employees rendered the services.  The accrued benefit liability at December 31, 2018 of 
$5,555,364 [2017-$5,535,997] was determined by an actuarial valuation prepared for the year ended December 
31, 2016 and updated for 2018. An amount of $2,354,991 [2017- $2,551,251] has been set aside in a sick pay 
liability reserve fund to offset this liability. 
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12. EMPLOYMENT FUTURE BENEFITS (continued) 

The main actuarial assumptions employed for the valuation of vested sick leave benefits are as follows: 

General Inflation 

Future general inflation levels, as measured by changes in the Consumer Price Index (CPI), were assumed at 
2% per annum. 

Interest (discount) rate 

The obligation as at December 31, 2018 of the present value of future liabilities and the expense for the year 
then ended was determined using an annual discount rate of 3.75%.  This rate reflects the assumed long-term 
yield on high quality bonds as at January 1, 2016. 

Salary levels 

Future general salary and wage levels were assumed to increase at 3.30% and 3.75% per annum for various 
employee groups, reflecting the expected Consumer Price Index adjusted for productivity, merit and promotion. 

[b] Vacation entitlements earned by the employees are converted to a cash payment when they retire or leave the 
City’s employment. 

[c] The City pays certain post-retirement benefits on behalf of its retired employees and recognizes these post 
retirement costs in the period in which the employees rendered the services.  The accrued benefit obligation at 
December 31, 2018 of $34,202,539 [2017-$33,925,301] was determined by an actuarial valuation prepared for 
the year ended December 31, 2016 and updated for 2018. An amount of $5,294,148  [2017-
been set aside in a post-retirement benefits reserve fund to offset this liability. 

Information about the City's post-retirement non-pension benefit plan is as follows: 

$5,483,421] has 

2018 2017 
$ $ 

Accrued benefit liability recognized in the financial statements 38,884,012 39,275,556 
Expense for the year 
Benefits paid for the year 

1,866,098 
(2,258,642) 

1,858,472 
(2,238,635) 

The main actuarial assumptions employed for the valuation are as follows: 

General Inflation 

Future general inflation levels, as measured by changes in the Consumer Price Index (CPI), were assumed at 
2% per annum. 

Interest (discount) rate 

The obligation as at December 31, 2018 of the present value of future liabilities and the expense for the year 
then ended was determined using an annual discount rate of 3.00% to 3.75%.  This rate reflects the assumed 
long-term yield on high quality bonds as at January 1, 2016. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

12. EMPLOYMENT FUTURE BENEFITS (continued) 

Medical and dental costs 

Medical costs were assumed to increase by 5.78% in 2018, with further annual increases gradually declining 
from 5.78% to 4.50% in 2024 and each year thereafter.  Dental costs were assumed to increase at 4.50% in 
2018 and each year thereafter. 

[d] The City elected to be under Schedule 2 of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act and hence, effectively self-
insures its workers’ compensation claims.  The estimated future benefit costs (including administration costs) at 
December 31, 2018 of $35,906,400  [2017 - $37,507,500] were determined by an actuarial valuation prepared 
for the year ended December 31, 2016 and updated for 2018.  An amount of $2,410,599 [2017 - $2,161,967] 
has been set asisde in a WSIB reserve fund to offset this liability. 

13. MUNICIPAL DEBENTURE DEBT 

[a] The balance of municipal debt reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position totaling 
$205,905,686 [2017 - $199,044,341] is comprised of debenture debt and construction financing outstanding at 

The balance of municipal debenture debt is $197,025,493 [2017 - $186,273,746]. 

The balance of construction financing is $8,880,193  [2017 $12,770,595] and is comprised of short-term 

year-end incurred by the City. 

-
advancements on a debenture based on incurred costs.  All construction financing will be converted to a long-
term debenture when project costs are complete. 

The breakdown of the balance owing is as follows: 
2018 2017 

$ $ 

Debenture debt 
Tax supported 71,490,827 75,210,389 
Rate supported 96,609,666 95,463,357 
Tbaytel 28,925,000 15,600,000 

Total debenture debt 197,025,493 186,273,746 

Construction financing 
Tax supported 5,509,111 6,470,449 
Rate supported 3,371,082 6,300,146 

Total construction financing 8,880,193 12,770,595 

Total debt 205,905,686 199,044,341 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

13. MUNICIPAL DEBENTURE DEBT (continued) 

[b] Principal repayments of municpal debenture debt are due as follows: 
$ 

2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 and thereafter 

Total 

22,172,553 
21,741,820 
21,290,044 
20,826,042 
20,378,234 
90,616,800 

197,025,493 

[c] The long-term liabilities in [a] issued in the name of the City have been approved by by-law.  The 2019 annual 
principal and interest payments required to service these liabilities are within the 2019 annual debt repayment 
limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing of $94,848,260.  The City has available 
$65,948,577, based on this annual debt repayment limit.

 [d] Total payments for the year for municipal debenture debt are as follows: 
2018 2017 

$ $ 

Principal payments 21,011,748 19,514,227 
Interest payments 

Total 

6,611,221 6,354,361 

27,622,969 25,868,588 

LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POST-CLOSURE LIABILITY 

The Ontario Environmental Protection Act (the “Act”) sets out the regulatory requirements for the closure and 
maintenance of landfill sites.  Under the Act, the City is required to provide for closure and post-closure care of its 

14. 

solid waste landfill site. 

The John Street municipal landfill is operated by the City to accept all municipal solid waste from the City.  The 
landfill includes the closed and capped West Cell, and the active East Cell with a remaining life of approximately 23 
years.  Closure activities include final cover and vegetation, drainage control features, monitoring of leachate, water 
quality and recovery of gas.  Post-closure activities include acquisition of additional land for buffer zone, treatment 
and monitoring of leachate, monitoring groundwater, surface water and gas, and recovery and ongoing maintenance 
of various control systems, drainage systems and final cover. 

The estimated liability of $3,677,765  [2017  - $3,963,961] is the present value of future closure and post-closure 
costs discounted at a rate of 4%. 

15. CONTAMINATED SITES LIABILITY 

The City recorded an estimated liability of $nil [2017 - $nil]. 

23 



D

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

16. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

Schedule 1 provides information on the tangible capital assets of the City of Thunder Bay by major asset class, 
including cost, accumulated amortization and the net book value of the assets. 

During the year no interest was capitalized [2017  – $nil], there were write-downs of tangible capital assets of 
$635,741 [2017-$nil] and contributed tangible capital assets of $13,048 [2017- $nil]. 

Certain assets have been recorded at a nominal value due to the difficulty in determining an appropriate value. 
These assets include road allowances relating to the roads network, certain land segments acquired through land 
swaps and some parkland segments. 

Works of art, artifacts, natural resouces, cultural and historic assets are not recorded as assets in the financial 
statements as a reasonable estimate of the future economic benefits associated with such property cannot be made. 

17. GOVERNMENT TRANSFERS 
2018 2017 

$ $ 

Revenues 

TGovernment of Canada grants 12,670,598 14,119,477 
Province of Ontario grants 60,709,881 58,405,061

A
FTotal Revenues 73,380,479 72,524,538 

Expenses 
External transfers to others 24,830,538 23,387,363

RTotal Expenses 

CONTINGENCIES 

24,830,538 23,387,363 

[a] There were numerous claims and litigation in dispute at December 31, 2018 for which the amount of settlement, 
if any, is indeterminable at this time. The settlements, if any, will be expensed in the Consolidated Statement of 

18. 

Operations and Accumulated Surplus in the year in which judgments are rendered. No provision has been made 
in these consolidated financial statements in respect of the above claims and litigation. 

[b] The Ontario Mining Act (the "Act") sets out the regulatory requirements for the closure plan and maintenance 
of mine sites.  Under the Act, the City is required to provide for closure and post-closure maintenance of the 
Shuniah Mine site, located on City property.  The solution and cost for the post-closure maintenance, if any, is 
uncertain and indeterminable at the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements and no provision has 
been made. 
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19. COMMITMENTS 

[a] The City has various operating leases pertaining to certain premises and equipment and service agreements. 
The future minimum lease payments over the next five years are as follows: 

$ 

2019 5,468,333 
2020 4,629,547 
2021 1,608,999 
2022 1,099,823 
2023 647,511 

[b] Tbaytel has provided a letter of guarantee from the Royal Bank to WSIB in the amount of $504,000 
[2017-$183,000]. 

20. PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE 

The City is self-insured for public liability claims up to $1,000,000 for any number of claims arising out of a single 
occurrence. Outside coverage is in place for claims in excess of these limits. 

Self-insured claims settled and accrued during the year amounting to $1,046,199 [2017 - $1,331,228] are reported as 
an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

21. NON-CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 

The Thunder Bay District Health Unit is established under the Health Protection and Promotion Act, and provides 
programs and services in accordance with the legislative mandate for Boards of Health in Ontario and delivers a 
wide range of services to citizens of the District of Thunder Bay. 

Thunder Bay District Health Unit 

The following table provides condensed supplementary financial information for the Thunder Bay District Health 
Unit prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

2018 2017 

$ 
(Restated) 

$ 

Financial position 
Financial assets 4,610,329 4,503,194 
Liabilities (3,033,374) (3,046,136) 

Net financial assets 1,576,955 1,457,058 
Non-financial assets 1,861,067 2,033,142 

Accumulated surplus 3,438,022 3,490,200 
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21. NON-CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES (continued) 

Thunder Bay District Health Unit (continued) 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 

Results of operations 
Revenues other than municipal levies 
Municipal levies 
Expenses 

Annual surplus 

15,482,549 
2,836,318 

(18,371,045) 

(52,178) 

14,459,648 
2,836,318 

(17,232,519) 

63,447 

The City’s share of the municipal levies was $2,238,140 [2017 - $2,238,140]. 

The District of Thunder Bay Social Services Administration Board 

Effective April 1, 1999, pursuant to provincial legislation, The District of Thunder Bay Social Services 
Administration Board was formed to accommodate the provincial government’s requirement to consolidate the 

 The Board delivers provincially mandated services on behalf of the citizens of the 

The following table provides condensed supplementary financial information for The District of Thunder Bay Social 
Services Administration Board, including its wholly-owned subsidiary, Thunder Bay District Housing Corporation, 

delivery of Social Services. 
District of Thunder Bay. 

prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

D

Financial position 
Financial assets 38,886,072 37,171,974 
Long-term debt (21,584,776) (23,883,359) 
Other liabilities (16,921,662) (15,997,282) 

Net debt 379,634 (2,708,667) 
Non-financial assets 46,986,880 48,482,491 

Accumulated surplus 47,366,514 

2018 
$ 

45,773,824 

2017 
$ 

2018 2017 
$ $ 

Results of operations 
Revenues other than municipal levies 79,604,847 75,460,566 
Municipal levies 22,806,700 23,510,000 
Other income 637,611 1,151,506 
Expenses (100,049,817) (97,360,864) 
Distribution to municipalities (556,754) -

Annual surplus 2,442,587 2,761,208 

The City's share of the municipal levies was $16,534,721 [2017 - $17,349,330]. 

26 



T F
A

R
D

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

22. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The City is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide range of services to its citizens. 
Segmented information has been prepared by major functional classification of activities provided, consistent with 
the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus and provincially legislated requirements. For each 
reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts attributable to the segment and amounts that are 
allocated on a reasonable basis. 

The segmented information is provided in Schedule 3 to the consolidated financial statements and includes the 
following segments: 

General Government 

General Government comprises various administrative services, including Finance & Corporate Services, Legal 
Services, Realty Services, City Manager’s Department, Facilities & Fleet Services and Mayor and Council. 

Protection to Persons and Property 

Protection to persons and property is comprised of Police Services, Fire Services, Protective Inspection and Control 
and Thunder Bay Court Services.  The mandate of Police Services is to ensure the safety of the lives and property of 
citizens; preserve peace and good order; prevent crimes from occurring; detect offenders; and enforce the law.  The 
Fire Services department is responsible for fire suppression; fire prevention programs; training and education related 
to prevention, detection or extinguishment of fires.  Protective Inspection and Control ensures an acceptable quality 
of building construction and maintenance of properties through enforcement of construction codes, building 
standards and by-laws for the protection of occupants.  Thunder Bay Court Services administers prosecutions and the 
collection of related fines and fees under the authority of the Provincial Offences Act. 

Transportation Services 

Transportation services include Roadways, Winter Control, Transit, Parking and Street Lighting. 
the delivery of municipal public works services related to the planning, development and maintenance of roadway 
systems, bridges, culverts, sidewalks, crossing guards and traffic lights. 

  Roadways covers 

 Winter control includes snowplowing, 
sanding and salting, snow removal and flood control.  The Transit division is responsible for providing local public 
transportation service including specialized public transportation.  The Parking Authority is responsible for the 
planning, development and maintenance of parking lots, meters and parkades, including enforcement of parking 
regulations. Street lighting plans, develops and maintains the street lighting system. 

Environmental Services 

Environmental services consist of Waterworks, Sanitary Sewer, Storm Sewer, Waste Collection and Disposal and 
Recycling.  Waterworks provides drinking water to the citizens of Thunder Bay.  Sanitary Sewer collects and treats 
wastewater.  Storm Sewer provides surface water management.  Waste Collection, Disposal and Recycling includes 
the collection of solid waste, landfill site operations and waste minimization programs. 

Health Services 

Health Services includes Cemeteries, Health Care Recruitment and Ambulance Services. 

Social and Family Services 

Social and Family Services include General Assistance, Assistance to Aged Persons and Child Care.  Under 
Assistance to Aged Persons, the City operates a Home for the Aged, the 55+ Centre, and provides services to 
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22. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued) 

Social and Family Services (continued) 
seniors, including meals on wheels, friendly visiting program and Jasper Apartments.  Child Care includes the 
operating and maintenance of childcare centers. 

Recreation and Cultural Services 

Recreation and Cultural Services include Parks, Recreation Programs and Facilities, Thunder Bay Public Library and 
Contributions to Cultural Organizations.  The City provides public services that contribute to neighbourhood 
development and sustainability through the provision of recreation and leisure services such as fitness and aquatic 
programs, the development and maintenance of various recreational facilities, and the maintenance of parks and open 
spaces.   The Thunder Bay Public Library is dedicated to providing community access to local and global 
information resources that support lifelong learning, research and leisure activities.   The City contributes to various 
cultural organizations under specific funding programs.  Also included in Recreation and Cultural Services are the 
activities of the Thunder Bay Community Auditorium Inc. 

Planning and Development 

The Development Services Department manages urban development for business interest, environmental concerns, 
heritage matters, local neighbourhoods and the downtown through city planning and community development and 

 Also included in Planning and Development are the activities of the 
Thunder Bay Community Economic Development Commission Inc., two Business Improvement Areas (BIA’s), and 
approval of all land development plans. 

Victoriaville Centre. 

Tbaytel 

Tbaytel was established as a Municipal Service Board to govern, control, maintain, operate and manage the City’s 
provision of telecommunication services. 
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23. BUDGET INFORMATION 

Budgets are established to set tax rates or to finance projects which may be carried out over one or more years. 
Budget figures have been reclassified for purposes of these consolidated financial statements to comply with PSAB 
reporting requirements and are not audited.  The chart below reconciles the approved budget with the budget figures 
as presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

$ 

Revenues 
Approved Budget 

Operating 363,003,600 
Capital 59,830,100 
Consolidated Boards 177,890,419 

600,724,119 
Adjustments 

Transfer from reserves to operating (5,793,100) 
In year budget adjustments - Capital 10,250,345 
Financial statement presentation adjustments (1,757,297) 
Reduction due to tangible capital asset accounting (44,371,100) 
Contributed tangible assets 13,048

FT
Reclassification of taxation (555,000) 

Total Revenues 
Expenses 

558,511,015

AApproved Budget 
Operating 363,003,600 

44,371,100 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 

Capital 
Consolidated Boards 167,573,419 

574,948,119 
Adjustments 

45,733,274 
Transfer to reserves (27,719,700) 
Reduction due to tangible capital asset accounting (44,371,100) 
Post employment benefit expense (2,009,988) 
Landfill closure and post closure expense (286,196) 
Financial statement presentation adjustments (4,226,300) 
Reclassification of taxation (555,000) 
Debt principal payments (18,904,500) 
Operating expenses budgeted in capital expensed in current year 20,678,976 

Total Expenses 543,287,585 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (356,000) 

Annual Surplus 14,867,430 

(A) Amortization of tangible capital assets does not include the amortization of the Consolidated Boards 
($34,618,000) and aquisitions of tangible capital assets ($47,471,000), these amounts are included in their approved 
budget. 
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24. FLOOD DISASTER 

On May 28, 2012, the City of Thunder Bay experienced a severe rainfall event, which resulted in the flooding of the 
Atlantic Avenue Secondary Sewage Treatment Plant (the "Plant") and basement flooding in certain areas of the City. 
On June 8, 2012, the Province of Ontario declared the City of Thunder Bay a disaster area for the purposes of the 
Ontario Disaster Relief Assistance Program ("ODRAP"). 

The City is currently in a dispute with its insurer, which has denied the claim based upon a disagreement over the 
proper allocation of repair costs for purposes of coverage under the insurance policy.  The City believes that the 
basis for the denial of the claim is invalid and has initiated legal action against its insurers and the claims adjusters. 
As this amount is in dispute and the outcome of the action is indeterminable, in accordance with PSAB standards the 
City derecognizes the balance in dispute and records the amount of any recovery when received. 

25. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 

The comparative financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously presented to conform to the 
presentation of the 2018 financial statements. 

26. FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES 

Financial Instruments, PS 3450, Foreign Currency Translation, PS 2601, and Financial Statement Presentation, PS 
1201 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2021. While early adoption is permitted, all three of 
the standards must be adopted in the same year.  PS 3450 provides guidance on the recognition, measurement, 
preentation and disclosure of financial instruments including derivative instruments. 
Translation includes guidance of deferral and amortization of unrealized gains and losses, hedge accounting and 
separation of realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses.  PS 1201 Financial Statement Presentation 
includes the addition of a new statement outlining re-measurement gains and losses.  The City has not yet adopted 
these standards or determined the effect on the consolidated financial statatements. 

 PS 2601, Foreign Currency 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

Schedule 1 

General Capital Infrastructure Total 

As at December 31, Land 

Land 

Improvements Buildings 

Machinery & 

Equipment Vehicles 

Network 

Assets 

Library 

Collection Land 

Land 

Improvements Building Linear Assets 

Machinery & 

Equipment 

Assets Under 

Construction 

(AUC) 

2018 2017 

Cost 

Balance, beginning of year 

Add: Additions 

Add: Transfers from AUC 

Less: Disposals 

Less: Write-downs 

$ 

27,670,470 

42,003 

-

159,637 

-

$ 

69,541,451 

1,829,991 

966,387 

165,253 

-

$ 

223,543,503 

2,533,878 

1,400,774 

185,000 

-

$ 

83,088,225 

5,680,819 

8,456,581 

8,214,844 

22,642 

$ 

78,537,774 

8,338,975 

-

951,173 

-

$ 

486,356,000 

21,790,000 

1,796,000 

2,194,000 

-

$ 

5,407,207 

198,936 

-

363,143 

-

$ 

1,195,122 

-

-

-

-

$ 

7,789,157 

-

-

-

-

$ 

262,815,473 

-

-

-

-

$ 

1,084,610,984 

13,885,576 

6,181,734 

2,103,946 

-

$ 

16,393,600 

568,357 

79,946 

417,684 

-

25,771,402 

27,046,523 

(18,881,422) 

-

613,099 

$ $ 

2,372,720,368 2,303,356,157 

81,915,058 84,926,144 

- -

14,754,680 15,561,933 

635,741 -

Balance, end of year 27,552,836 72,172,576 227,293,155 88,988,139 85,925,576 507,748,000 5,243,000 1,195,122 7,789,157 262,815,473 1,102,574,348 16,624,219 33,323,404 2,439,245,005 2,372,720,368 

Accumulated Amortization 

Balance, beginning of year - 30,868,696 86,020,423 62,143,350 41,130,586 304,832,000 3,925,860 - 4,720,990 81,876,330 707,460,805 4,420,926 - 1,327,399,966 1,261,850,884 

Add: Amortization 

Less: Accumulated Amortization on 

- 2,408,256 5,756,638 6,065,962 5,438,502 28,235,000 376,105 - 550,374 7,464,956 23,037,918 819,950 - 80,153,661 78,295,678 

disposals - 165,253 82,000 1,815,878 899,614 1,976,000 363,143 - - - 1,678,459 150,427 - 7,130,774 12,746,596 

Balance, end of year - 33,111,699 91,695,061 66,393,434 45,669,474 331,091,000 3,938,822 - 5,271,364 89,341,286 728,820,264 5,090,449 - 1,400,422,853 1,327,399,966 

Net Book Value of Tangible 

Capital Assets 27,552,836 39,060,877 135,598,094 22,594,705 40,256,102 176,657,000 1,304,178 1,195,122 2,517,793 173,474,187 373,754,084 11,533,770 33,323,404 1,038,822,152 1,045,320,402 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

Schedule 2 
2018 2017 

As at December 31, 

$ $ 

Surplus 

Investment in tangible capital assets 1,038,822,152 1,045,320,402 

Municipal debenture debt (205,905,686) (199,044,341) 

Tbaytel long term payable (20,148,000) (28,529,000) 

Investment in Thunder Bay Hydro Corporation 102,072,420 97,980,630 

General fund 3,076,341 (4,706,094) 

Employee future benefits (84,869,598) (86,870,586) 

Landfill closure and post-closure liability (3,677,765) (3,963,961) 

Derecognition of receivable (22,946,728) (22,946,728) 

806,423,136 797,240,322 

Reserves 

Capital reserves 15,036,754 14,549,964 

Working capital 4,300,000 4,300,000 

19,336,754 18,849,964 

Reserve funds 

Capital reserve funds T 23,387,624 13,841,945 

Federal Gas Tax 5,491,836 4,263,615 

Provincial Dedicated Gas Tax 224,445 421,239 

MTO Transit Capital 323,164 316,362 

Ontario Municipal Commuter Cycling 

Renew Thunder Bay 27,211,295 25,249,246 

Ontario Community Infrastructure 909,236 548,262 

EMS 2,446,366 2,442,511 

875,926 -

Recreation 3,110,853 3,203,075 

Post-employment benefits 5,294,148 5,483,421 

Vested sick leave 2,354,991 2,551,251 

WSIB 2,410,599 2,161,967 

Insurance 1,982,570 1,137,574 

Tax Assessment appeals 8,470,683 8,292,396 

Vested property rehabilitation 5,540,013 5,406,208 

Stabilization 12,005,992 13,097,001 

Economic development 987,494 1,125,345 

Winter roads maintenance 1,112,287 947,279 

Other 6,433,553 7,048,638 

110,573,075 97,537,335 

Total reserves and reserve funds 129,909,829 116,387,299 

Accumulated Surplus 936,332,965 913,627,621 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF SEGMENT DISCLOSURE 

Schedule 3 

General Government Protection to Persons and Property Transportation Services Environmental Services Health Services 

For the year ended December 31, 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Revenues 

Taxation, net 191,589,480 186,480,779 - - - - - - - -

Government of Canada grants 7,982,256 7,104,647 258,450 112,458 2,732,340 2,704,806 820,958 3,872,867 - -

Province of Ontario grants 26,331,198 26,107,151 2,834,001 2,666,689 2,222,555 1,981,050 1,915,280 2,533,741 15,418,520 14,467,396 

Contributed tangible capital assets - - - - 13,048 - - - - -

Fees and service charges 4,236,151 4,354,176 1,170,048 1,188,148 8,238,160 7,857,733 57,035,293 54,312,592 171,990 189,732 

Other 2,994,416 545,833 5,133,006 5,358,228 2,233,224 2,138,914 602,352 1,128,825 2,203,810 2,027,445 

Investment income 1,732,029 1,980,224 69,714 53,134 104,580 67,875 199,252 115,891 75,834 82,562 

Tbaytel fees and service charges - - - - - - - - - -

Total Revenues 234,865,530 226,572,810 9,465,219 9,378,657 15,543,907 14,750,378 60,573,135 61,963,916 17,870,154 16,767,135 

Expenses 

Salary, wages and employee benefits 28,309,315 27,151,193 77,808,684 75,136,088 19,133,443 18,808,283 14,805,027 15,017,479 22,456,065 21,104,191 

Long term debt interest 50,262 64,229 23,506 28,371 1,029,691 1,075,213 3,385,233 3,427,901 282,688 297,468 

Materials 30,240,651 29,420,103 4,375,230 3,829,532 6,332,300 6,135,852 9,355,280 9,394,256 2,004,871 1,648,638 

Contracted services 8,199,651 6,722,875 804,641 1,010,984 2,858,645 3,346,698 6,709,680 5,900,363 295,867 318,606 

Rents & financials 1,428,440 1,272,389 272,648 250,539 940,371 885,858 2,233,146 2,360,994 334,731 331,923 

External transfers to others 1,000,000 - 1,686,571 1,662,779 - - - - 2,238,140 2,238,140 

Interfunctional and program support (40,467,498) (39,917,548) 2,696,691 2,677,950 14,831,033 13,806,882 9,115,416 9,533,947 1,419,652 1,369,523 

Unfunded liabilities (222,266) (252,843) (352,309) (212,243) (208,807) (87,989) (399,219) 21,793 (8,912) (49,613) 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 752,935 804,542 1,711,294 1,652,850 20,156,776 20,031,712 16,463,565 16,827,606 1,565,836 1,602,509 

Total expenses 29,291,490 25,264,940 89,026,956 86,036,850 65,073,452 64,002,509 61,668,128 62,484,339 30,588,938 28,861,385 

Net revenues (expenses) 205,574,040 201,307,870 (79,561,737) (76,658,193) (49,529,545) (49,252,131) (1,094,993) (520,423) (12,718,784) (12,094,250) 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF SEGMENT DISCLOSURE 

Schedule 3 

For the year ended December 31, 

Social and Family Services 

2018 2017 

Recreation and Cultural Services 

2018 2017 

Planning and Development 

2018 2017 2018 

Tbaytel 

2017 2018 

Total 

2017 

Revenues 

Taxation, net 

Government of Canada grants 

Province of Ontario grants 

Contributed tangible capital assets 

Fees and service charges 

Other 

Investment income 

Tbaytel fees and service charges 

-

3,483 

9,303,398 

-

8,688,754 

6,350 

39,136 

-

-

16,876 

8,443,680 

-

8,350,972 

4,318 

39,136 

-

-

755,766 

1,833,384 

-

12,251,329 

1,316,869 

95,894 

-

-

160,713 

1,125,106 

-

12,057,161 

693,534 

100,244 

-

-

117,345 

851,545 

-

1,952,627 

1,038,158 

58,197 

-

-

147,110 

1,080,248 

-

1,547,942 

1,138,219 

55,641 

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,978,000 

574,000 

189,403,000 

-

-

-

-

-

2,400,000 

288,000 

189,204,000 

191,589,480 

12,670,598 

60,709,881 

13,048 

93,744,352 

19,506,185 

2,948,636 

189,403,000 

186,480,779 

14,119,477 

58,405,061 

-

89,858,456 

15,435,316 

2,782,707 

189,204,000 

Total Revenues 

Expenses 

18,041,121 16,854,982 16,253,242 14,136,758 4,017,872 3,969,160 193,955,000 191,892,000 570,585,180 556,285,796 

Salary, wages and employee benefits 

Long term debt interest 

Materials 

Contracted services 

Rents & financials 

External transfers to others 

Interfunctional and program support 

Unfunded liabilities 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 

17,449,428 

1,050,181 

3,361,190 

793,797 

83,928 

16,534,721 

1,719,064 

(780,326) 

434,755 

17,082,894 

1,204,829 

2,713,377 

661,712 

102,423 

17,349,330 

1,822,853 

(805,647) 

429,335 

21,387,437 

88,520 

9,702,936 

5,452,713 

364,379 

3,088,100 

9,325,327 

(299,990) 

5,021,824 

20,608,132 

103,224 

7,913,528 

4,772,266 

362,653 

1,892,806 

9,179,282 

(320,503) 

4,938,966 

2,977,785 

-

3,017,829 

565,643 

218,394 

283,006 

1,360,315 

(24,355) 

274,676 

3,166,848 

-

2,693,349 

1,111,221 

220,659 

244,308 

1,527,111 

(98,454) 

273,158 

33,340,000 

701,140 

96,179,000 

-

961,860 

-

-

-

33,772,000 

33,565,000 

153,126 

95,545,877 

-

1,215,874 

-

-

-

31,735,000 

237,667,184 

6,611,221 

164,569,287 

25,680,637 

6,837,897 

24,830,538 

-

(2,296,184) 

80,153,661 

231,640,108 

6,354,361 

159,294,512 

23,844,725 

7,003,312 

23,387,363 

-

(1,805,499) 

78,295,678 

Total expenses 

Net revenues (expenses) 

40,646,738 

(22,605,617) 

40,561,106 

(23,706,124) 

54,131,246 

(37,878,004) 

49,450,354 

(35,313,596) 

8,673,293 

(4,655,421) 

9,138,200 

(5,169,040) 

164,954,000 

29,001,000 

162,214,877 

29,677,123 

544,054,241 

26,530,939 

528,014,560 

28,271,236 
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Independent Auditor's Report 

To The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay 

Qualified Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statement section of our report. We are independent of the Trust Funds in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statement 
in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

The trust funds of The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay derive receipts from donations and 
deposits (withdrawals) for residents of the homes for the aged, as well as, donations for other 
purposes, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification. 
Accordingly, our verification of these receipts was limited to the amounts recorded in the records 
of the trust funds. Therefore, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments might be 
necessary to donation receipts and surplus for the year, assets, liabilities and accumulated surplus. 
The audit opinion on the statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 was modified 
accordingly because of the possible effects of this limitation in scope. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified 
Opinion section of our report, the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Trust Funds as at December 31, 2018, and its results of 
operations for the year then ended in accordance with the basis of accounting as described in Note 
1. 

We have audited the statement of financial position of The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay 

then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
Trust Funds (the Trust Funds) as at December 31, 2018 and the statement of continuity for the year 
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policies. 

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statement, which describes the basis of accounting. 
The financial statements are prepared to assist The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay in 
assessing the Trust Funds' financial information. As a result, the statements may not be suitable for 
another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the basis of accounting as described in Note 1. This includes determining that the 
basis of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the financial statements in the 
circumstances, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
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Independent Auditor's Report (cont'd) 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust Funds' internal control. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statement 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Trust Funds' financial 
reporting process. 

In preparing the statements, management is responsible for assessing the Trust Funds' ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Trust Funds or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates, and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that many cast significant doubt on the Trust 
Funds' ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust Funds to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 
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Independent Auditor's Report (cont'd) 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Thunder Bay, Ontario 
Date 
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5 THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
TRUST FUNDS 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
Year ended December 31, 2018 

Lake Civic 
Older Cemetery Dawson Grandview Pioneer Superior Employees Community Art In Provincial 
Adults Cemeteries Marker Court Home Lodge Home Ridge Home Memorial Employee Pension Trust Auditorium Public Land 

Total Centre Mtce. for Aged for Aged for Aged Hillcrest Pk Disability Committee Repairs Places Tax 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Assets 

Cash 272,674 -

Accrued interest 3 - 3 - - - -

104 - 2,020 4,945 23,443 - 1,457 

1,116,449 430,811 - - - 32,266 11,640,971 

- - - - - -

1,116,553 430,811 2,020 4,945 23,443 32,266 11,642,431 

- - - - - - -

1,116,553 430,811 2,020 4,945 23,443 32,266 11,642,431 

1,116,553 430,811 2,020 4,945 23,443 32,266 11,642,431 
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Investments (note 2) 13,344,197 111,926 1,998 787 8,989 -

13,616,874 111,926 1,998 787 8,989 240,705 

Liabilities and accumulated 
surplus 

Due to revenue fund - -

Accumulated surplus 13,616,874 111,926 1,998 787 8,989 240,705 

13,616,874 111,926 1,998 787 8,989 240,705 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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6 THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
TRUST FUNDS 
STATEMENT OF CONTINUITY 
Year ended December 31, 2018 Lake 

Superior Civic 
Older Cemetery Dawson Grandview Pioneer Regiment Employees Community Art In Provincial 
Adults Cemetery Marker Court Home Lodge Home Ridge Home Memorial Employee Pension Trust Auditorium Public Land 

Total Centre Mtce. for Aged for Aged for Aged Hillcrest Pk Disability Committee Repairs Places Tax 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 14,423,134 84,606 1,100,967 415,906 2,020 4,945 16,042 31,587 12,516,172 1,998 770 8,800 239,321 

Receipts 
Contribution from premiums 4,037,325 
PLT deposits 60,774,090 

- - - - - - - 4,037,325 
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - 69,570 - -

25,230 - - - - - - -
- 15,586 - - - - - -
- - 5,900 - - - - -

2,090 23,838 9,005 - - - 679 256,941 
27,320 39,424 14,905 - - 69,570 679 4,294,266 

- - - - - 62,169 - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - 4,861,757 
- 23,838 - - - - - -
- - - - - - - 306,250 
- 23,838 - - - 62,169 - 5,168,007 

111,926 1,116,553 430,811 2,020 4,945 23,443 32,266 11,642,431 
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Deposit 69,570 
Donations 25,230 
Sale of plots 15,586 
Marker fees 5,900 
Earned interest 304,420 - 17 189 11,661 

65,232,121 - 17 189 60,785,751 

Expenditures 
Residents' withdrawals, net 62,169 
PLT Transfers to Ministry 60,571,562 - - - 60,571,562 
Disability claims 4,861,757 
Net investment earnings 23,838 
General Operating costs 519,055 - - - 212,805 

66,038,381 - - - 60,784,367 

Accumulated surplus, end of year 13,616,874 1,998 787 8,989 240,705 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



        
 

 

 

 

 

7 THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 
TRUST FUNDS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended December 31, 2018 

1. Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Accounting 

Federal Government $2,340,209 $2,280,442 $3,853,420 $3,723,314 
Provincial 
Government 4,057,801 3,929,840 4,351,070 4,304,555 
Municipal 61,835 59,876 81,686 79,771 
Corporate 1,540,506 1,499,233 2,086,616 2,040,500 
Equity 1,172,082 1,532,909 1,154,976 1,794,629 
Other 4,171,764 4,171,764 2,631,504 2,631,504 

2018 Market 2017 Market 
Cost Value Cost Value 

- $14,574,273). The investments are comprised of federal, provincial, municipal, and 
corporate bonds the ONE Equity Fund, money market funds and treasury bills.  The bonds 
have varying maturities and interest rates. 

The total for investments by the trust funds of $13,344,197 (2017 - $14,159,272) reported on 
the balance sheet at carrying value, have an approximate market value of $13,474,064 (2017 

2. Investments 

Investments are accounted for at cost plus accrued earnings.  The carrying value of an 
investment is written down to its net recoverable amount if a decline in value is judged to be 
other than temporary. Investment income earned is reported as revenue in the period earned. 

Investments 

These financial statements have been prepared by management using the recognition and 
measurement principles of Canadian public sector accounting standards.  Receipts and 
disbursements are reported the accrual basis of accounting which recognizes revenues as 

measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services and the creation of a legal obligation to 
they become available and measureable, and disbursements as they are incurred and 
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pay. 

$13,344,197 $13,474,064 $14,159,272 $14,574,273 



 

 

 

 
 

   

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

   

  

 

 

 

       

     

    

 

 

 

  

Memorandum Corporate By-law Number BL 70/2019 

TO: Office of the City Clerk FILE: 

FROM: Jana Roy 

Corporate Services & Long Term Care - Financial Services 

DATE: 06/07/2019 

SUBJECT: BL 70/2019 - A By-law to Author

Debentures 

ize the Borrowing Upon Serial 

MEETING DATE: City Council - 06/24/2019 (mm/dd/yyyy) 

By-law Description: A By-law to authorize the borrowing upon serial debentures in the 

principal amount of $12,000,000.00 towards the cost of a certain capital work described in 

Schedule "A" to this by-law. 

Authorization: Report 2017CLS.017 (Financial Services) - Committee of the Whole - April 3, 

2017. 

By-law Explanation: The purpose of this by-law is to authorize borrowing towards the cost of a 

certain capital work of The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay. 

Schedules and Attachments: 

SCHEDULE A - CAPITAL WORKS TO BE DEBENTURED 

SCHEDULE B – DEBENTURE DOCUMENTS 

SCHEDULE C – LOAN AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE 

Amended/Repealed By-law Number(s): 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 

BY-LAW NUMBER BL 70/2019 

A By-law to authorize the borrowing upon serial debentures in 

the principal amount of $12,000,000.00 towards the cost of a 

certain capital work described in Schedule "A" to this by-law. 

Recitals 

1. Subsection 401 (1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended (the “Act”) provides that a 
municipality may incur a debt for municipal purposes, whether by borrowing money or in any other 

way, and may issue debentures and prescribed financial instruments and enter prescribed financial 

agreements for or in relation to the debt. 

2. Subsection 408 (2.1) of the Act provides that a municipality may issue a debenture or other 

financial instrument for long-term borrowing only to provide financing for a capital work. 

3. The Council of The Corporation of the City of Thunder Bay (the “Municipality”) has passed 
the By-laws enumerated in column (1) of Schedule “A” attached hereto and forming part of this By-

law (“Schedule “A”) all of which By-laws other than By-law Number BL 63/2019, relate to the 

establishment and operation of TBayTel as a municipal service board. The Municipality by passing 

By-law Number BL 63/2019, authorized the capital work described in column (2) of Schedule “A” 
(the “Capital Work”), authorized the long-term borrowing from Ontario Infrastructure and Lands 

Corporation (“OILC”) in respect of the Capital Work and confirmed; ratified and approved the 
execution by the Treasurer of the application to OILC for financing of the Capital Work (the 

“Application”); authorized the submission by such authorized official of the Application; and 
authorized the execution and delivery to OILC of the rate offer letter agreement in respect of such 

long-term borrowing for the Capital Work. 

4. Before authorizing the Capital Work, the Council of the Municipality had its Treasurer 

calculate an updated limit in respect of its most recent annual debt and financial obligation limit 

received from the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing in accordance with the applicable 

regulation and, prior to the Council of the Municipality authorizing the Capital Work the Treasurer 

determined that the estimated annual amount payable in respect of the Capital Work would not cause 

the Municipality to exceed the updated limit and that the approval of the Capital Work by the Local 

Planning Appeal Tribunal pursuant to such regulation was not required. 

5. The Municipality has submitted the Application to OILC and the Application has been 

approved. 

6. To provide long-term financing for the Capital Work, it is now deemed to be expedient to 

borrow money by the issue of serial debentures in the principal amount of $12,000,000.00 dated July 

2, 2019 and maturing on July 2, 2039 and payable in semi-annual instalments of combined principal 

and interest on the 2nd day of January and on the 2nd day of July in each of the years 2020 to 2039, 

both inclusive on the terms hereinafter set forth. 
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ACCORDINGLY, THE COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF 

THUNDER BAY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. For the Capital Work, the borrowing upon the credit of the Municipality at large of the 

principal amount of $12,000,000.00 and the issue of serial debentures therefor to be repaid in semi-

annual instalments of combined principal and interest as hereinafter set forth, are hereby authorized. 

2. The Mayor and the Treasurer of the Municipality are hereby authorized to cause any number 

of serial debentures to be issued for such amounts of money as may be required for the Capital Work 

in definitive form, not exceeding in total the said principal amount of $12,000,000.00 (the 

“Debentures”). The Debentures shall bear the Municipality’s municipal seal and the signatures of the 
Mayor and the Treasurer of the Municipality, all in accordance with the provisions of the Act. The 

municipal seal of the Municipality and the signatures referred to in this section may be printed, 

lithographed, engraved or otherwise mechanically reproduced. The Debentures are sufficiently 

signed if they bear the required signatures and each person signing has the authority to do so on the 

date he or she signs. 

3. The Debentures shall be in fully registered form as one or more certificates in the principal 

amount of $12,000,000.00, in the name of OILC, or as OILC may otherwise direct, substantially in 

the form attached as Schedule “B” hereto and forming part of this By-law with provision for payment 

of principal and interest (other than in respect of the final payment of principal and outstanding interest 

on maturity upon presentation and surrender) by pre-authorized debit in respect of such principal and 

interest to the credit of such registered holder on such terms as to which the registered holder and the 

Municipality may agree. 

4. In accordance with the provisions of section 25 of the Ontario Infrastructure and Lands 

Corporation Act, 2011, as amended from time to time hereafter, the Municipality is hereby 

authorized to agree in writing with OILC that the Minister of Finance is entitled, without notice to 

the Municipality, to deduct from money appropriated by the Legislative Assembly of Ontario for 

payment to the Municipality, amounts not exceeding any amounts that the Municipality fails to 

pay OILC on account of any unpaid indebtedness of the Municipality to OILC under the 

Debentures and to pay such amounts to OILC from the Consolidated Revenue Fund. 

5. The Debentures shall all be dated the 2nd day of July, 2019, and as to both principal and 

interest shall be expressed and be payable in lawful money of Canada. The Debentures shall bear 

interest at the rate of 2.70% per annum and mature during a period of 20 years from the date thereof 

payable semi-annually in arrears as described in this section. The Debentures shall be paid in full by 

July 2, 2039 and be payable in semi-annual instalments of combined equal principal and diminishing 

interest amounts on the 2nd day of January and on the 2nd day of July in each of the years 2020 to 

2039, both inclusive, save and except for the last instalment of principal which may vary slightly 

from the preceding equal instalments, as set forth in Schedule “C” attached hereto and forming part 

of this By-law (“Schedule “C”). 

6. Payments in respect of principal of and interest on the Debentures shall be made only on a 

day, other than Saturday or Sunday, on which banking institutions in Toronto, Ontario, Canada and 
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the Municipality are not authorized or obligated by law or executive order to be closed (a “Business 
Day”) and if any date for payment is not a Business Day, payment shall be made on the next following 

Toronto Business Day. 

7. Interest shall be payable to the date of maturity of the Debentures and on default shall be 

payable on any overdue amounts both before and after default and judgment at a rate per annum equal 

to the greater of the rate specified on the Schedule as attached to and forming part of the Debentures 

for such amounts plus 200 basis points or Prime Rate (as defined below) plus 200 basis points, 

calculated on a daily basis from the date such amounts become overdue for so long as such amounts 

remain overdue and the Municipality shall pay to the registered holders any and all costs incurred by 

the registered holders as a result of the overdue payment. Any amounts payable by the Municipality 

as interest on overdue principal or interest and all costs incurred by the registered holders as a result 

of the overdue payment in respect of the Debentures shall be paid out of current revenue. Whenever 

it is necessary to compute any amount of interest in respect of the Debentures for a period of less than 

one full year, other than with respect to regular semi-annual interest payments, such interest shall be 

calculated on the basis of the actual number of days in the period and a year of 365 days or 366 days 

as appropriate. 

“Prime Rate” means, on any day, the annual rate of interest which is the arithmetic mean of the prime 
rates announced from time to time by the following five major Canadian Schedule I banks, as of the 

issue date of the Debentures: Royal Bank of Canada; Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce; The 

Bank of Nova Scotia; Bank of Montreal; and The Toronto-Dominion Bank (the “Reference Banks”) 
as their reference rates in effect on such day for Canadian dollar commercial loans made in Canada. 

If fewer than five of the Reference Banks quote a prime rate on such days, the “Prime Rate” shall be 
the arithmetic mean of the rates quoted by those Reference Banks. 

8. In each year in which a payment of semi-annual instalments of combined equal principal and 

diminishing interest amounts becomes due in respect of the Capital Work including the last ‘non-

equal’ instalment of principal, there shall be raised as part of the Municipality’s general levy the 
amounts of principal and interest payable by the Municipality in each year as set out in Schedule “C” 
to the extent that the amounts have not been provided for by any other available source including 

other taxes or fees or charges imposed on persons or property by a by-law of any municipality. 

9. The Debentures may contain any provision for their registration thereof authorized by any 

statute relating to municipal debentures in force at the time of the issue thereof. 

10. The Municipality shall maintain a registry in respect of the Debentures in which shall be 

recorded the names and the addresses of the registered holders and particulars of the Debentures held 

by them respectively and in which particulars of the cancellations, exchanges, substitutions and 

transfers of Debentures, may be recorded and the Municipality is authorized to use electronic, 

magnetic or other media for records of or related to the Debentures or for copies of them. 

11. The Municipality shall not be bound to see to the execution of any trust affecting the 

ownership of any Debenture or be affected by notice of any equity that may be subsisting in respect 

thereof. The Municipality shall deem and treat registered holders of the Debentures as the absolute 
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owners thereof for all purposes whatsoever notwithstanding any notice to the contrary and all 

payments to or to the order of registered holders shall be valid and effectual to discharge the liability 

of the Municipality on the Debentures to the extent of the amount or amounts so paid. When a 

Debenture is registered in more than one name, the principal of and interest from time to time payable 

on such Debenture shall be paid to or to the order of all the joint registered holders thereof, failing 

written instructions to the contrary from all such joint registered holders, and such payment shall 

constitute a valid discharge to the Municipality. In the case of the death of one or more joint registered 

holders, despite the foregoing provisions of this section, the principal of and interest on any 

Debentures registered in their names may be paid to the survivor or survivors of such holders and 

such payment shall constitute a valid discharge to the Municipality. 

12. The Debentures will be transferable or exchangeable at the office of the Treasurer of the 

Municipality upon presentation for such purpose accompanied by an instrument of transfer or 

exchange in a form approved by the Municipality and which form is in accordance with the prevailing 

Canadian transfer legislation and practices, executed by the registered holder thereof or such holder’s 
duly authorized attorney or legal personal representative, whereupon and upon registration of such 

transfer or exchange and cancellation of the Debenture or Debentures presented, the Mayor and the 

Treasurer shall issue and deliver a new Debenture or Debentures of an equal aggregate principal 

amount in any authorized denomination or denominations as directed by the transferor, in the case of 

a transfer or as directed by the registered holder in the case of an exchange. 

13. The Mayor and the Treasurer shall issue and deliver new Debentures in exchange or 

substitution for Debentures outstanding on the registry with the same maturity and of like form which 

have become mutilated, defaced, lost, subject to a mysterious or unexplainable disappearance, stolen 

or destroyed, provided that the applicant therefor shall have: (a) paid such costs as may have been 

incurred in connection therewith; (b) (in the case when a Debenture is mutilated, defaced, lost, 

mysteriously or unexplainably missing, stolen or destroyed) furnished the Municipality with such 

evidence (including evidence as to the certificate number of the Debenture in question) and an 

indemnity in respect thereof satisfactory to the Municipality in its discretion; and (c) surrendered to 

the Municipality any mutilated or defaced Debentures in respect of which new Debentures are to be 

issued in substitution. 

14. The Debentures issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange or in substitution for any 

Debentures or part thereof shall carry all the rights to interest if any, accrued and unpaid which were 

carried by such Debentures or part thereof and shall be so dated and shall bear the same maturity date 

and, subject to the provisions of this By-law, shall be subject to the same terms and conditions as the 

Debentures in respect of which the transfer, exchange or substitution is effected. 

15. The cost of all transfers and exchanges, including the printing of authorized denominations of 

the new Debentures, shall be borne by the Municipality. When any of the Debentures are surrendered 

for transfer or exchange the Treasurer of the Municipality shall: (a) in the case of an exchange, cancel 

and destroy the Debentures surrendered for exchange; (b) in the case of an exchange, certify the 

cancellation and destruction in the registry; (c) enter in the registry particulars of the new Debenture 

or Debentures issued in exchange; and (d) in the case of a transfer, enter in the registry particulars of 
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the registered holder as directed by the transferor. 

16. Reasonable fees in respect of the Debentures, in the normal course of business, other than 

reasonable fees for the substitution of a new Debenture or new Debentures for any of the Debentures 

that are mutilated, defaced, lost, mysteriously or unexplainably missing, stolen or destroyed and for 

the replacement of any of the principal and interest cheques (if any) that are mutilated, defaced, lost, 

mysteriously or unexplainably missing, stolen or destroyed may be imposed by the Municipality. 

When new Debentures are issued in substitution in these circumstances the Municipality shall: (a) 

treat as cancelled and destroyed the Debentures in respect of which new Debentures will be issued in 

substitution; (b) certify the deemed cancellation and destruction in the registry; (c) enter in the registry 

particulars of the new Debentures issued in substitution; and (d) make a notation of any indemnities 

provided. 

17. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any notice required to be given to a registered 

holder of one or more of the Debentures will be sufficiently given if a copy of such notice is mailed 

or otherwise delivered to the registered address of such registered holder. 

18. The Mayor and the Treasurer are hereby authorized to cause the Debentures to be issued, one 

or more of the City Clerk and Treasurer are hereby authorized to generally do all things and to execute 

all other documents and other papers in the name of the Municipality in order to carry out the issue 

of the Debentures and the Treasurer is authorized to affix the Municipality’s municipal seal to any of 

such documents and papers. 

19. The money received by the Municipality from the sale of the Debentures to OILC, including 

any premium, and any earnings derived from the investment of that money, after providing for the 

expenses related to their issue, if any, shall be apportioned and applied to the Capital Work and to no 

other purpose except as permitted by the Act. 

20. Subject to the Municipality’s statement of investment policies and goals, the applicable 

legislation and the terms and conditions of the Debentures, the Municipality may, if not in default 

under the Debentures, at any time purchase any of the Debentures in the open market or by tender or 

by private contract at any price and on such terms and conditions (including, without limitation, the 

manner by which any tender offer may be communicated or accepted and the persons to whom it may 

be addressed) as the Municipality may in its discretion determine. 

21. This By-law shall come into force and take effect on the date it is passed. 

Enacted and passed this 24th day of June A.D. 2019 as witnessed by the Seal of the Corporation and 

the hands of its proper Officers. 

Bill Mauro 

Mayor 

John S. Hannam 

City Clerk 
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Schedule “A” 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 

Approved 

Amount to be 

Financed 
Amount of 

Amount of Term of 

By-law 
Capital Work 

Description 
Through the 

Issue of 

Debentures 

Previously 
Debentures to 

be Issued 

Years of 

Debentures 
Debentures 

Issued 

257-2004 Capital costs in $12,000,000.00 Nil $12,000,000.00 20 

168-2005 connection with 

043-2007 the Municipal 

105-2007 Other 

024-2008 Infrastructure – 
082-2010 Fibre to Home 

BL 117/2014 and Business 

BL 33/2017 (FTH/B) project 

BL 34/2017 that involves 

BL 63/2019 building a 

communications 

network which 

utilizes glass fibre 

standards to 

provide services 

to TBayTel’s 
customers - Phase 

III. 

TOTAL $12,000,000.00 
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Schedule “B” 

No. OILC2019-01 $12,000,000.00 

C A N A D A 

Province of Ontario 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY 

FULLY REGISTERED 2.70% SERIAL DEBENTURE 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF THUNDER BAY (the “Municipality”), for value 

received, hereby promises to pay to 

ONTARIO INFRASTRUCTURE AND LANDS CORPORATION (“OILC”) 

or registered assigns, subject to the Conditions attached hereto which form part hereof (the 

“Conditions”), upon presentation and surrender of this debenture (or as otherwise agreed to by the 

Municipality and OILC) by the maturity date of this debenture (July 2, 2039), the principal amount 

of 

TWELVE MILLION DOLLARS 

----------------------------------- ($12,000,000.00) ---------------------------------

by semi-annual instalments of combined equal principal and diminishing interest amounts on the 

2nd day of January and on the 2nd day of July in each of the years 2020 to 2039, both inclusive, 

in the amounts set forth in the attached Serial Debenture Schedule (the “Amortization Schedule”) 
and subject to late payment interest charges pursuant to the Conditions, in lawful money of Canada.  

Subject to the Conditions: interest shall be paid until the maturity date of this debenture, in like 

money in semi-annual payments from the closing date (July 2, 2039), or from the last date on 

which interest has been paid on this debenture, whichever is later, at the rate of 2.70% per annum, 

in arrears, on the specified dates, as set forth in the Amortization Schedule; and interest shall be 

paid on default at the applicable rate set out in the Amortization Schedule both before and after 

default and judgment. The payments of principal and interest and the outstanding amount of 

principal in each year are shown in the Amortization Schedule. 

The Municipality, pursuant to section 25 of the Ontario Infrastructure and Lands Corporation Act, 

2011 (the “OILC Act, 2011”) hereby irrevocably agrees that the Minister of Finance is entitled, 

without notice to the Municipality, to deduct from money appropriated by the Legislative 

Assembly of Ontario for payment to the Municipality, amounts not exceeding any amounts that  

the Municipality fails to pay OILC on account of any unpaid indebtedness under this debenture, 

and to pay such amounts to OILC from the Consolidated Revenue Fund. 

This debenture is subject to the Conditions. 

DATED at the City of Thunder Bay as at the 2nd day of July, 2019 
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IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF and under the authority of By-law Number BL 70/2019 of the 

Municipality duly passed on the 24th day of June, 2019 (the “By-law”), this debenture is sealed 
with the municipal seal of the Municipality and signed by the Mayor and by the Treasurer thereof. 

Date of Registration:  July 2, 2019 

___________________________ (Seal)      _________________________ 

Bill Mauro, Mayor Linda Evans, Treasurer 



  

 
    

   

 

 

 

 

               

 

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                      

                         

                         

                         

                         

                         

                         

                         

                           

                           

                           

                           

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE 

Loan.....: 2124 

Name.....: Thunder Bay, The Corporation of the City of 

Principal: $12,000,000.00 

Rate.....: 02.7000% 

Term.....: 240 

Matures..: 07/02/2039 

Pay # Date  Amount Due $  Principal Due $  Interest Due $ Rem. Principal $ 

1 01/02/2020  463,331.51  300,000.00  163,331.51 11,700,000.00 

2 07/02/2020  457,517.26  300,000.00  157,517.26 11,400,000.00 

3 01/02/2021  455,164.93  300,000.00  155,164.93 11,100,000.00 

4 07/02/2021  448,618.36  300,000.00  148,618.36 10,800,000.00 

5 01/02/2022  446,998.36  300,000.00  146,998.36 10,500,000.00 

6 07/02/2022  440,584.93  300,000.00  140,584.93 10,200,000.00 

7 01/02/2023  438,831.78  300,000.00  138,831.78  9,900,000.00 

8 07/02/2023  432,551.51  300,000.00  132,551.51  9,600,000.00 

9 01/02/2024  430,665.21  300,000.00  130,665.21  9,300,000.00 

10 07/02/2024 425,206.03 300,000.00 125,206.03  9,000,000.00 

11 01/02/2025 422,498.63 300,000.00 122,498.63  8,700,000.00 

12 07/02/2025 416,484.66 300,000.00 116,484.66  8,400,000.00 

13 01/02/2026 414,332.05 300,000.00 114,332.05  8,100,000.00 

14 07/02/2026 408,451.23 300,000.00 108,451.23  7,800,000.00 

15 01/02/2027 406,165.48 300,000.00 106,165.48  7,500,000.00 

16 07/02/2027 400,417.81 300,000.00 100,417.81  7,200,000.00 

17 01/02/2028 397,998.90 300,000.00 97,998.90 6,900,000.00 

18 07/02/2028 392,894.79 300,000.00 92,894.79 6,600,000.00 

19 01/02/2029 389,832.33 300,000.00 89,832.33 6,300,000.00 

20 07/02/2029 384,350.96 300,000.00 84,350.96 6,000,000.00 
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21 01/02/2030 381,665.75 300,000.00 81,665.75 5,700,000.00 

22 07/02/2030 376,317.53 300,000.00 76,317.53 5,400,000.00 

23 01/02/2031 373,499.18 300,000.00 73,499.18 5,100,000.00 

24 07/02/2031 368,284.11 300,000.00 68,284.11 4,800,000.00 

25 01/02/2032 365,332.60 300,000.00 65,332.60 4,500,000.00 

26 07/02/2032 360,583.56 300,000.00 60,583.56 4,200,000.00 

27 01/02/2033 357,166.03 300,000.00 57,166.03 3,900,000.00 

28 07/02/2033 352,217.26 300,000.00 52,217.26 3,600,000.00 

29 01/02/2034 348,999.45 300,000.00 48,999.45 3,300,000.00 

30 07/02/2034 344,183.84 300,000.00 44,183.84 3,000,000.00 

31 01/02/2035 340,832.88 300,000.00 40,832.88 2,700,000.00 

32 07/02/2035 336,150.41 300,000.00 36,150.41 2,400,000.00 

33 01/02/2036 332,666.30 300,000.00 32,666.30 2,100,000.00 

34 07/02/2036 328,272.33 300,000.00 28,272.33 1,800,000.00 

35 01/02/2037 324,499.73 300,000.00 24,499.73 1,500,000.00 

36 07/02/2037 320,083.56 300,000.00 20,083.56 1,200,000.00 

37 01/02/2038 316,333.15 300,000.00 16,333.15  900,000.00 

38 07/02/2038 312,050.14 300,000.00 12,050.14  600,000.00 

39 01/02/2039 308,166.58 300,000.00  8,166.58  300,000.00 

40 07/02/2039 304,016.71 300,000.00  4,016.71 0.00 

15,324,217.82 12,000,000.00 3,324,217.82 
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OILC hereby agrees that the Minister of Finance is entitled to exercise certain rights of deduction pursuant to 
section 25 of the OILC Act, 2011 as described in this debenture. 

Ontario Infrastructure and Lands Corporation 

by: ____________________________________ by:_________________________________________ 
Authorized Signing Officer Authorized Signing Officer 

LEGAL OPINION 

We have examined the By-law of the Municipality authorizing the issue of serial 

debentures in the principal amount of $12,000,000.00 dated July 2, 2019 and maturing 

on July 2, 2039 in semi-annual instalments of combined equal principal and 

diminishing interest amounts on the 2nd day of January and on the 2nd day of July in 

each of the years 2020 to 2039, both inclusive, as set out in Schedule “C” to the By-

law. 

In our opinion, the By-law has been properly passed and is within the legal powers of 

the Municipality. The debenture issued under the By-law in the within form (the 

“Debenture”) is the direct, general, unsecured and unsubordinated obligation of the 

Municipality. The Debenture is enforceable against the Municipality subject to the 

special jurisdiction and powers of the Local Planning Appeal Tribunal over defaulting 

municipalities under the Municipal Affairs Act. This opinion is subject to and 

incorporates all the assumptions, qualifications and limitations set out in our opinion 

letter. 

July 2, 2019                     WeirFoulds LLP 
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CONDITIONS OF THE DEBENTURE 

Form, Denomination, and Ranking of the Debenture 

1. The debentures issued pursuant to the By-law (collectively the “Debentures” and 
individually a “Debenture”) are issuable as fully registered Debentures without coupons. 

2. The Debentures are direct, general, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the 

Municipality. The Debentures rank concurrently and equally in respect of payment of 

principal and interest with all other debentures of the Municipality except for the 

availability of money in a sinking or retirement fund for a particular issue of debentures. 

3. This Debenture is one fully registered Debenture registered in the name of OILC and held 

by OILC. 

Registration 

4. The Municipality shall maintain at its designated office a registry in respect of the 

Debentures in which shall be recorded the names and the addresses of the registered holders 

and particulars of the Debentures held by them respectively and in which particulars of 

cancellations, exchanges, substitutions and transfers of Debentures, may be recorded and 

the Municipality is authorized to use electronic, magnetic or other media for records of or 

related to the Debentures or for copies of them. 

Title 

5. The Municipality shall not be bound to see to the execution of any trust affecting the 

ownership of any Debenture or be affected by notice of any equity that may be subsisting 

in respect thereof. The Municipality shall deem and treat registered holders of Debentures, 

including this Debenture, as the absolute owners thereof for all purposes whatsoever 

notwithstanding any notice to the contrary and all payments to or to the order of registered 

holders shall be valid and effectual to discharge the liability of the Municipality on the 

Debentures to the extent of the amount or amounts so paid. Where a Debenture is 

registered in more than one name, the principal of and interest from time to time payable 

on such Debenture shall be paid to or to the order of all the joint registered holders thereof, 

failing written instructions to the contrary from all such joint registered holders, and such 

payment shall constitute a valid discharge to the Municipality. In the case of the death of 

one or more joint registered holders, despite the foregoing provisions of this section, the 

principal of and interest on any Debentures registered in their names may be paid to the 

survivor or survivors of such holders and such payment shall constitute a valid discharge 

to the Municipality. 

Payments of Principal and Interest 

6. The record date for purposes of payment of principal of and interest on the Debentures is 



     

       

   

      

 

 

         

    

               

    

   

  

 

         

     

  

  

     

      

        

  

 

          

    

     

   

       

     

       

    

         

 

        

     

     

    

    

 

     

     

          

 

 

         

       

  

as of 5:00 p.m. on the sixteenth calendar day preceding any Payment Date including the 

maturity date. Principal of and interest on the Debentures are payable by the Municipality 

to the persons registered as holders in the registry on the relevant record date. The 

Municipality shall not be required to register any transfer, exchange or substitution of 

Debentures during the period from any record date to the corresponding Payment Date. 

7. The Municipality shall make all payments in respect of semi-annual instalments of 

combined equal principal and diminishing interest amounts on the Debentures on the 2nd 

day of January and on the 2nd day of July, commencing on January 2, 2020 and ending on 

July 2, 2039, as set out in Schedule “C” to the By-law, by pre-authorized debit in respect 

of such interest and principal to the credit of the registered holder on such terms as the 

Municipality and the registered holder may agree. 

8. The Municipality shall pay to the registered holder interest on any overdue amount of 

principal or interest in respect of any Debenture, both before and after default and 

judgment, at a rate per annum equal to the greater of the rate specified on the Amortization 

Schedule as attached to and forming part of the Debenture for such amount plus 200 basis 

points or Prime Rate (as defined below) plus 200 basis points, calculated on a daily basis 

from the date such amount becomes overdue for so long as such amount remains overdue 

and the Municipality shall pay to the registered holder any and all costs incurred by the 

registered holder as a result of the overdue payment. 

9. Whenever it is necessary to compute any amount of interest in respect of the Debentures 

for a period of less than one full year, other than with respect to regular semi-annual interest 

payments, such interest shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days in the 

period and a year of 365 days or 366 days as appropriate. 

10. Payments in respect of principal of and interest on the Debentures shall be made only on a 

day, other than Saturday or Sunday, on which banking institutions in Toronto, Ontario, 

Canada and the Municipality are not authorized or obligated by law or executive order to 

be closed (a “Business Day”), and if any date for payment is not a Business Day, payment 

shall be made on the next following Business Day as noted on the Amortization Schedule. 

11. The Debentures are transferable or exchangeable at the office of the Treasurer of the 

Municipality upon presentation for such purpose accompanied by an instrument of transfer 

or exchange in a form approved by the Municipality and which form is in accordance with 

the prevailing Canadian transfer legislation and practices, executed by the registered holder 

thereof or such holder’s duly authorized attorney or legal personal representative, 
whereupon and upon registration of such transfer or exchange and cancellation of the 

Debenture or Debentures presented, a new Debenture or Debentures of an equal aggregate 

principal amount in any authorized denomination or denominations will be delivered as 

directed by the transferor, in the case of a transfer or as directed by the registered holder in 

the case of an exchange. 

12. The Municipality shall issue and deliver Debentures in exchange for or in substitution for 

Debentures outstanding on the registry with the same maturity and of like form in the event 

of a mutilation, defacement, loss, mysterious or unexplainable disappearance, theft or 



     

      

   

       

      

   

 

 

      

    

       

  

 

 

       

        

        

    

      

 

          

 

 

      

   

      

    

     

 

      

    

  

 

        

    

     

       

 

 

        

        

     

   

    

 

destruction, provided that the applicant therefor shall have: (a) paid such costs as may have 

been incurred in connection therewith; (b) (in the case of a mutilated, defaced, lost, 

mysteriously or unexplainably missing, stolen or destroyed Debenture) furnished the 

Municipality with such evidence (including evidence as to the certificate number of the 

Debenture in question) and an indemnity in respect thereof satisfactory to the Municipality 

in its discretion; and (c) surrendered to the Municipality any mutilated or defaced 

Debentures in respect of which new Debentures are to be issued in substitution. 

13. The Debentures issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange or in substitution for 

any Debentures or part thereof shall carry all the rights to interest if any, accrued and unpaid 

which were carried by such Debentures or part thereof and shall be so dated and shall bear 

the same maturity date and, subject to the provisions of the By-law, shall be subject to the 

same terms and conditions as the Debentures in respect of which the transfer, exchange or 

substitution is effected. 

14. The cost of all transfers and exchanges, including the printing of authorized denominations 

of the new Debentures, shall be borne by the Municipality. When any of the Debentures 

are surrendered for transfer or exchange the Treasurer of the Municipality shall: (a) in the 

case of an exchange, cancel and destroy the Debentures surrendered for exchange; (b) in 

the case of an exchange, certify the cancellation and destruction in the registry; (c) enter in 

the registry particulars of the new Debenture or Debentures issued in exchange; and (d) in 

the case of a transfer, enter in the registry particulars of the registered holder as directed by 

the transferor. 

15. Reasonable fees for the substitution of a new Debenture or new Debentures for any of the 

Debentures that are mutilated, defaced, lost, mysteriously or unexplainably missing, stolen, 

or destroyed and for the replacement of mutilated, defaced, lost, mysteriously or 

unexplainably missing, stolen or destroyed principal and interest cheques (if any) may be 

imposed by the Municipality. When new Debentures are issued in substitution in these 

circumstances the Municipality shall: (a) treat as cancelled and destroyed the Debentures 

in respect of which new Debentures will be issued in substitution; (b) certify the deemed 

cancellation and destruction in the registry; (c) enter in the registry particulars of the new 

Debentures issued in substitution; and (d) make a notation of any indemnities provided. 

16 If OILC elects to terminate its obligations under the rate offer letter agreement entered into 

between the Municipality and OILC, pursuant to which the Debentures are issued, at 

OILC’s discretion, the Municipality shall pay to OILC the Make-Whole Amount on 

account of the losses that OILC will incur as a result of the full repayment or early 

termination. 

"Make-Whole Amount" means the amount determined by OILC as of the date of 

prepayment of the Debenture, by which (i) the present value of the remaining future 

scheduled payments of principal and interest under the Debenture to be repaid from the 

prepayment date until maturity of the Debenture discounted at the Ontario Yield exceeds 

(ii) the principal amount under the Debenture being repaid provided that the Make-Whole 

Amount shall never be less than zero. 



 

    

      

  

       

        

 

 

 
            

        

      

          

      

     

  

 

 

 

         

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

   

        

 

    

       

    

      

   

“Ontario Yield" means the yield to maturity on the date of prepayment of the Debenture, 
assuming semi-annual compounding, which a non-prepayable Debenture made by the 

Province of Ontario would have if advanced on the date of prepayment of the Debenture, 

assuming the same principal amount as the Debenture and with a maturity date which is 

the same as the remaining term to maturity of the Debenture to be repaid minus 100 basis 

points. 

Notices 

17. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any notice required to be given to a 

registered holder of one or more of the Debentures will be sufficiently given if a copy of 

such notice is mailed or otherwise delivered to the registered address of such registered 

holder. If the Municipality or any registered holder is required to give any notice in 

connection with the Debentures on or before any day and that day is not a Business Day 

(as defined in section 10 of these Conditions) then such notice may be given on the next 

following Business Day. 

Time 

18. Unless otherwise expressly provided herein, any reference herein to a time shall be 

considered to be a reference to Toronto time. 

Governing Law 

19. The Debentures are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the 

Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable in Ontario. 

Definitions: 

(a) “Prime Rate” means, on any day, the annual rate of interest which is the arithmetic mean 

of the prime rates announced from time to time by the following five major Canadian 

Schedule I banks, as of the issue date of this Debenture: Royal Bank of Canada; Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce; The Bank of Nova Scotia; Bank of Montreal; and The 

Toronto-Dominion Bank (the “Reference Banks”) as their reference rates in effect on such 
day for Canadian dollar commercial loans made in Canada. If fewer than five of the 

Reference Banks quote a prime rate on such days, the “Prime Rate” shall be the arithmetic 
mean of the rates quoted by those Reference Banks. 
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Schedule “C” 

AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE 

Loan.....: 2124 

Name.....: Thunder Bay, The Corporation of the City of 

Principal: $12,000,000.00 

Rate.....: 02.7000% 

Term.....: 240 

Matures..: 07/02/2039 

Pay # Date  Amount Due $  Principal Due $  Interest Due $ Rem. Principal $ 

1 01/02/2020  463,331.51  300,000.00  163,331.51 11,700,000.00 

2 07/02/2020  457,517.26  300,000.00  157,517.26 11,400,000.00 

3 01/02/2021  455,164.93  300,000.00  155,164.93 11,100,000.00 

4 07/02/2021  448,618.36  300,000.00  148,618.36 10,800,000.00 

5 01/02/2022  446,998.36  300,000.00  146,998.36 10,500,000.00 

6 07/02/2022  440,584.93  300,000.00  140,584.93 10,200,000.00 

7 01/02/2023  438,831.78  300,000.00  138,831.78  9,900,000.00 

8 07/02/2023  432,551.51  300,000.00  132,551.51  9,600,000.00 

9 01/02/2024  430,665.21  300,000.00  130,665.21  9,300,000.00 

10 07/02/2024 425,206.03 300,000.00 125,206.03  9,000,000.00 

11 01/02/2025 422,498.63 300,000.00 122,498.63  8,700,000.00 

12 07/02/2025 416,484.66 300,000.00 116,484.66  8,400,000.00 

13 01/02/2026 414,332.05 300,000.00 114,332.05  8,100,000.00 

14 07/02/2026 408,451.23 300,000.00 108,451.23  7,800,000.00 

15 01/02/2027 406,165.48 300,000.00 106,165.48  7,500,000.00 

16 07/02/2027 400,417.81 300,000.00 100,417.81  7,200,000.00 

17 01/02/2028 397,998.90 300,000.00 97,998.90 6,900,000.00 

18 07/02/2028 392,894.79 300,000.00 92,894.79 6,600,000.00 

19 01/02/2029 389,832.33 300,000.00 89,832.33 6,300,000.00 

20 07/02/2029 384,350.96 300,000.00 84,350.96 6,000,000.00 

21 01/02/2030 381,665.75 300,000.00 81,665.75 5,700,000.00 

22 07/02/2030 376,317.53 300,000.00 76,317.53 5,400,000.00 

23 01/02/2031 373,499.18 300,000.00 73,499.18 5,100,000.00 

24 07/02/2031 368,284.11 300,000.00 68,284.11 4,800,000.00 

25 01/02/2032 365,332.60 300,000.00 65,332.60 4,500,000.00 

26 07/02/2032 360,583.56 300,000.00 60,583.56 4,200,000.00 

27 01/02/2033 357,166.03 300,000.00 57,166.03 3,900,000.00 

28 07/02/2033 352,217.26 300,000.00 52,217.26 3,600,000.00 
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29 01/02/2034 348,999.45 300,000.00 48,999.45 3,300,000.00 

30 07/02/2034 344,183.84 300,000.00 44,183.84 3,000,000.00 

31 01/02/2035 340,832.88 300,000.00 40,832.88 2,700,000.00 

32 07/02/2035 336,150.41 300,000.00 36,150.41 2,400,000.00 

33 01/02/2036 332,666.30 300,000.00 32,666.30 2,100,000.00 

34 07/02/2036 328,272.33 300,000.00 28,272.33 1,800,000.00 

35 01/02/2037 324,499.73 300,000.00 24,499.73 1,500,000.00 

36 07/02/2037 320,083.56 300,000.00 20,083.56 1,200,000.00 

37 01/02/2038 316,333.15 300,000.00 16,333.15  900,000.00 

38 07/02/2038 312,050.14 300,000.00 12,050.14  600,000.00 

39 01/02/2039 308,166.58 300,000.00 8,166.58  300,000.00 

40 07/02/2039 304,016.71 300,000.00  4,016.71 0.00 

15,324,217.82 12,000,000.00 3,324,217.82 
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